REPORT OF THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUDICIAL SELECTION

December 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			rage	
I.	OVE	RVIEW	1	
II.	BAC	KGROUND	4	
III.	DEV	ELOPING THE JOINT COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDATIONS	5	
	A.	Strengthening Transparency While Preserving the Need for		
		Confidentiality	5	
		1. Clarifying Confidentiality Rules	6	
		2. Making Commissioners' Manual Publicly Accessible	6	
		3. Requiring an Annual Report	7	
	В.	Memorializing the JSC's Core Purpose in Selecting Nominees	7	
	C.	Improving the JSC's Operating Procedures	7	
		1. Mandatory Training	7	
		2. Higher Quorum for Crucial Votes	7	
		3. Remote Attendance at JSC Meetings	8	
		4. Clarifying Voting Rules	8	
	D.	Enhancing the Recruitment of Applicants	8	
	Δ.	Emiliation of the rectation of the photon of	O	
IV.	THE	THE JOINT COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDATIONS		
	A.	Develop Clear, Written Standards for Evaluating Applicants and Petitioners for Judicial Office	9	
	B.	Develop Protocols for Training New and Existing Members of the JSC	11	
	C.	Streamline the JSC's Voting Rules	12	
	D.	Define the Term "Deliberations" under Article VI, Section 4 of the Hawai'i Constitution	15	
	E.	Create Greater Transparency as to the JSC's Rules and Procedures	17	
	F.	Improve Recruitment in Terms of the Quantity and Qualifications of Applicants	18	
		Members of the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection	21	

APPENDICES

		Page
Appendix A	House Concurrent Resolution 5, Senate Draft 1	22
Appendix B	Judicial Selection Commission Steering Committee Report	27
Appendix C	Judicial Selection Commission Rules	80
Appendix D	Article VI of the Hawai'i Constitution	89
Appendix E	Joint Committee's Recommended Amendments to the Judicial Selection Commission Rules	94

I. OVERVIEW

Hawai'i's current judicial selection process is the product of constitutional amendments debated and developed at the 1978 Constitutional Convention and subsequently ratified by voters. Delegates at the Convention chose to adopt a merit-based system of judicial selection to ensure that only the most qualified applicants would be considered for appointment and to address concerns that the previous system was too susceptible to political influence and favoritism. Hawai'i's model of judicial selection has been praised as an effective means of reducing the influence of partisan politics, securing better-qualified judges, and maintaining the independence of the Judiciary. However, improvements can always be made, and given the importance of judicial selection to the administration of justice, it is worthwhile to look for ways to make the system better. It is with this spirit that the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection (Joint Committee) submits our report.

Hawai'i's judicial selection system is comprised of three components: (1) the Judicial Selection Commission (JSC or Commission); (2) the appointing authority, who is the Governor for circuit and appellate courts and the Chief Justice for district courts; and (3) the Senate. In selecting a judge or justice to fill a vacancy, the JSC evaluates the qualifications of applicants and provides a list of nominees for the appointing authority to consider; the appointing authority selects a person to appoint from the list of nominees submitted by the JSC; and the Senate decides whether the person appointed will be confirmed. The ultimate success of the judicial selection system depends on each component conscientiously performing its role and fulfilling its responsibilities.

During the 2021 Legislative Session, the Legislature adopted House Concurrent Resolution 5, Senate Draft 1 (HCR 5)¹ which established the Joint Committee. HCR 5 focuses its attention on the JSC component of the system. HCR 5 requests that the Joint Committee work with the JSC and the Judiciary to:

- 1. Develop clear, written standards for evaluating applicants and petitioners for judicial office;
- 2. Develop protocols for training new and existing members of the JSC;
- 3. Streamline the JSC's voting rules;
- 4. Define the term "deliberations" under Article VI, Section 4 of the Hawai'i Constitution;
- 5. Create greater transparency as to the JSC's rules and procedures; and

1

¹ House Concurrent Resolution 5, Senate Draft 1 is attached as Appendix A.

6. Improve recruitment in terms of the quantity and qualifications of applicants.

Pursuant to HCR 5, the Joint Committee is tasked with submitting a report of our findings and recommendations, including any proposed legislation, to the Legislature prior to the 2022 Regular Session.

Underlying the Joint Committee's recommendations is our finding that Hawai'i's model of judicial selection, which is designed to foster the merit-based selection and retention of judges, is an exemplary model that should be maintained. This finding is in accordance with numerous reports that have examined, and expressed strong support for, Hawai'i's judicial selection system and the JSC. The Joint Committee opposes judicial elections and does not favor other transformative changes that would alter the fundamental character of Hawai'i's selection process. Rather, we recommend working within the existing framework of Hawai'i's selection process to find ways to improve the manner and means by which the JSC fulfills its public trust responsibilities.

The Joint Committee's recommendations acknowledge that confidentiality as well as transparency is crucial to the success of Hawai'i's merit selection system. Our recommendations focus on opportunities through JSC rule amendments to increase transparency in the JSC without infringing upon the legitimate need for confidentiality. We also recommend rule amendments to have the JSC articulate in writing its core purpose in selecting nominees and to improve the JSC's operating procedures. Finally, we offer recommendations on strategies to increase the number of qualified individuals applying for judicial vacancies.

The Joint Committee's recommendations include the following:

- 1. Amend the JSC rules to provide that the JSC shall select as nominees the most qualified applicants for the particular vacancy to be filled.
- 2. Amend the JSC rules to require the adoption of a mandatory training program, including a manual for commissioners that shall be made accessible to the public.
- 3. Amend the JSC rules to require a quorum of at least seven commissioners when voting on retention petitions or to select nominees.
- 4. Amend the JSC rules to provide that the JSC chairperson or a majority of its members may permit any commissioner to participate in a meeting remotely.
- 5. Amend the JSC rules to clarify that the "secret ballot" requirement does not inhibit commissioners from freely discussing their evaluation of applicants and petitioners during JSC meetings.
- 6. Amend the JSC rules to make clear that information relating to the JSC's rules, procedures, and practices is not confidential.

- 7. Amend the JSC rules to require the JSC to prepare an annual report describing its activities.
- 8. Improve recruitment of qualified applicants through educational programs and direct and indirect recruitment efforts.

II. BACKGROUND

The Joint Committee was formed based on a recommendation by the Judicial Selection Steering Committee (Steering Committee), a group of distinguished individuals who came together in October 2020 to discuss the status and potential improvement of Hawai'i's judicial selection process. The Steering Committee reviewed relevant resource materials and solicited input from key stakeholders in the State. The Steering Committee's discussions focused on ways to improve the JSC in the areas of transparency and confidentiality, the selection of nominees, and the composition and operations of the JSC. The Steering Committee recommended that the Legislature, by concurrent resolution, establish the Joint Committee to continue the efforts to improve the judicial selection process.² The Legislature, with a few amendments, adopted the Steering Committee's proposed resolution and established the Joint Committee.

We held our first meeting on July 19, 2021. As set forth in HCR 5, the Joint Committee is comprised of six members, with one member each appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Senate President, the Governor, the Chief Justice of the Hawai'i Supreme Court, the Hawai'i State Bar Association (HSBA), and the Hawai'i Women Lawyers. The Joint Committee met more than ten times. We interacted with and sought input from the JSC and the Judiciary. These included two joint sessions with members of the JSC and a joint session with the Chief Justice and the Deputy Administrator of the Courts.

The Joint Committee was organized into subcommittees, which corresponded with the six topic categories identified in HCR 5, and the subcommittees formulated proposals for the Joint Committee to consider. At our request, the Legislative Reference Bureau gathered extensive research on the history of the constitutional provisions governing the JSC, changes made to the JSC's rules over time, and the controlling rules and laws of judicial selection commissions operating in other states. We also reviewed the Report of the Steering Committee, the substantial resource materials it compiled, and summaries of interviews it conducted.

The Steering Committee's Report, which is attached as Appendix B, contains a thorough discussion of the origin of the JSC, the constitutional framework for judicial selection in Hawai'i, and the rules of the JSC. Rather than repeat that discussion, we incorporate it into our report.

4

² The Steering Committee also recommended that the Legislature propose an amendment to the Hawai'i Constitution to provide that "[t]he judicial selection commission shall be guided by principles of merit in the selection of judicial nominations and the retention of judges and justices." House Bill 340 (HB 340), introduced during the 2021 Legislative Session, proposed a constitutional amendment with this language. House Bill 340 passed the House of Representatives and is pending in the Senate.

III. DEVELOPING THE JOINT COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDATIONS

Over the past twenty years, various community groups have prepared reports examining Hawai'i's Judicial Selection Commission, including the American Judicature Society (AJS), Hawai'i Chapter in 2003, 2005, 2008, and 2017, the Brennan Center for Justice in 2016, and the Hawai'i League of Women Voters in 2003. While suggesting possible improvements, these reports have generally commended the design and provided favorable reviews of Hawai'i's model of judicial selection and retention. Consistent with these reports, we find that the Hawai'i model is the right one for our State and should be preserved.

One of the strengths of the Hawai'i model is the structure of the JSC itself. The authority to select the commissioners is disbursed among a wide range of interests. Of the nine members of the JSC, two each are appointed by the Governor, the Senate President, and the Speaker of the House of Representatives, two are elected by the Hawai'i bar, and one is appointed by the Chief Justice.³ The disbursement of power to select commissioners helps to broaden the viewpoints of commissioners and guard against control by a particular group or interest.⁴ Other features of the JSC's structure provide additional diversity. These include the requirements that no more than four commissioners can be licensed attorneys, at least one commissioner must be a resident of a Neighbor Island, and the terms of commissioners are staggered with no commissioner allowed to serve for more than six years.

While the Joint Committee endorses the design, structure, and purpose of the JSC, we offer recommendations on ways that the JSC can be improved. Our recommendations, which primarily involve proposed amendments to JSC rules,⁵ focus on the following concepts.

A. Strengthening Transparency While Preserving the Need for Confidentiality

A recurring question that arises in examining the JSC is the proper balance between confidentiality and transparency.

Finding the appropriate balance between preserving the privacy of judicial applicants and providing transparency in the screening process is one of the greatest challenges that nominating commissions face. Applicants should be protected from public scrutiny regarding their private lives and from public embarrassment that could result from the

³ This selection structure was established by a 1994 constitutional amendment. The 1994 amendment reduced by one the number of commissioners appointed by the Governor and the Chief Justice and increased by one the number of commissioners appointed by the Senate President and Speaker of the House of Representatives. The 1994 amendment was directed at reducing "the perceived influence of the appointing authorities to the commission." Conf. Comm. Rep. No. 52, in 1994 Senate Journal, at 720.

⁴ In its 2008 Report, the AJS Special Committee on Judicial Independence and Accountability found that "the composition of the JSC is one of its greatest strengths, with appointees from each branch of government and the bar, acting as checks and balances to any real or perceived bias that might result from lesser diversity."

⁵ The current JSC rules and Article VI of the Hawai'i Constitution are attached as Appendix C and D, respectively.

failure to receive a nomination. At the same time, the public should have sufficient knowledge of the nominating process to maintain confidence in that process.

AJS Model Judicial Selection Provisions (2008), Commentary, at 7.

Confidentiality is essential to a merit-selection system. Confidentiality is necessary to recruit qualified applicants by providing assurance that their legitimate privacy interests will be protected. Without such assurance, fewer qualified candidates, especially women and attorneys in private practice, will apply for judicial office. Confidentiality is also necessary for the JSC to receive honest assessments of, and to freely deliberate upon, applicants' and petitioners' qualifications and to reduce the risk of external partisan pressure.

At the same time, transparency serves to increase public confidence in the judicial selection process. A lack of transparency and understanding of how the judicial selection process works can lead to public suspicion and mistrust. Therefore, to the extent possible, the JSC should make efforts to increase transparency where doing so would not detract from maintaining the confidentiality of information necessary for effective merit selection.

Our recommendations are directed at strengthening transparency by making accessible information about the JSC's selection process that would not infringe upon the legitimate need for confidentiality.

1. Clarifying Confidentiality Rules

A crucial way to increase transparency and public confidence in the JSC is to ensure that the public fully understands the process used by the JSC in reaching its decisions. The legitimate reasons for the JSC to keep its evaluation of individual applicants and petitioners confidential do not extent to information about the JSC's process — the rules, procedures, and practices the JSC uses in selecting nominees and deciding retention petitions. To increase public understanding of the JSC's selection process, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC's confidentiality rules be amended to make clear that information about the JSC's rules, procedures, and practices is not confidential.

2. Making Commissioners' Manual Publicly Accessible

To provide the public with greater insight into how commissioners are trained and the standards they are instructed to follow, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC be required to prepare an official manual for commissioners, and that this manual be made accessible to the public.

3. Requiring an Annual Report

For greater transparency regarding the JSC's actions and to make it easier to track the JSC's decisions and spot trends over time, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC be required to prepare an annual report containing relevant statistical information.

B. Memorializing the JSC's Core Purpose in Selecting Nominees

An organization's core purposes should be in writing. A defining purpose of merit selection and the JSC is to select as nominees the most qualified applicants for the position to be filled. We recommend that this core JSC purpose be memorialized in the JSC's rules. Making this purpose an express part of the JSC's rules will serve to reemphasize to commissioners and provide clear notice to the public of what the JSC is striving to accomplish.

C. Improving the JSC's Operating Procedures

The Joint Committee recommends a number of measures to improve the manner in which the JSC performs its responsibilities.

1. Mandatory Training

Proper training, particularly for newly appointed commissioners, is critical to ensuring that commissioners understand their role and obligations and are engaging in the best practices in performing their responsibilities. Given the importance of training, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC rules be amended to require that new commissioners complete a standardized training program within six months after they are appointed.

2. Higher Quorum for Crucial Votes

One of the strengths of the JSC is the diversity of perspectives that commissioners bring to the decision-making process. However, if a significant number of commissioners do not participate in a decision, this strength as well as confidence that the decision truly represents that of the JSC is diminished. To address these concerns, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC rules be amended to increase from five to seven the number of commissioners required for a quorum when the JSC is voting on retention petitions or to select nominees.

3. Remote Attendance at JSC Meetings

To increase the availability of commissioners and provide the JSC with additional options, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC rules be amended to specify that the JSC chairperson or a majority of its members may permit individual commissioners to attend meetings remotely.

4. Clarifying Voting Rules

It appears that some commissioners may be reluctant to freely express their views on applicants and petitioners during JSC meetings based on a concern that, by indicating how they may vote, they could be violating the "secret ballot" requirement in the JSC rules. To remove this concern and to encourage free and open discussion among commissioners, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC rules be amended to clarify that the "secret ballot" requirement does not impose any restriction on commissioners' ability to discuss their views on applicants and petitioners during JSC meetings.

D. Enhancing the Recruitment of Applicants

To increase the size and qualifications of the applicant pool and encourage applications from qualified individuals who can add to the breadth and diversity of the Judiciary, the Joint Committee recommends utilizing interested stakeholders in multipronged recruiting efforts.

IV. THE JOINT COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDATIONS

A few general comments before we delve more deeply into the details of our recommendations:

- 1. Like the Steering Committee, we focused on the JSC's role in selecting nominees, and not its role in judicial retentions. While our recommendations affect judicial retentions to some degree, they primarily address issues arising out of the JSC's selection of nominees.
- 2. HCR 5 requests that we submit a report of our findings and recommendations, "including any proposed legislation." We note that there is a question regarding the extent to which legislation can alter the JSC's rules in light of the constitutional provision that states: "The commission shall adopt rules which shall have the force and effect of law." See Department of the Attorney General, State of Hawai'i, Opinion No. 07-03 (2007). The Joint Committee did not attempt to resolve this question because our recommendations for improving the JSC do not require legislation, but can be accomplished through amendments to the JSC rules.
- 3. We acknowledge that the JSC operates on a limited budget and that commissioners themselves are unpaid volunteers, whose service on the JSC already requires a major commitment of time and effort. Certain of our recommendations, including the development of a mandatory training program, the preparation of an official commissioners' manual, and the publication of an annual report, will add to these burdens. To the extent that it is necessary to carry out our recommendations, we ask that the Legislature and the Judiciary provide appropriate budgetary support and personnel assistance to the JSC.

We now turn to a more detailed explanation of our findings and recommendations which we present under the six topic categories set forth in HCR 5. Where we recommend an amendment to the JSC rules, we also propose specific language on how the rules should be amended to implement our recommendation. Attached as Appendix E are our recommended rule amendments in Ramseyer format, showing the changes our recommendations would make to the existing JSC rules.

A. Develop Clear, Written Standards for Evaluating Applicants and Petitioners for Judicial Office

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that JSC Rule 11 be amended to add a new Section 11.C, which provides: "Based upon the criteria set forth in Rule 10, the commission shall select as nominees the applicants who are the most qualified to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the particular position to be filled."

Commentary

The JSC was created to establish an independent, nonpartisan panel of commissioners to select a list of nominees that was based on merit, and not on political influence or connections, for the appointing authority to consider. In describing how the JSC would function, the Chair of the Judiciary Standing Committee at the 1978 Constitutional Convention stated:

Upon conclusion of the [JSC's] deliberation, a list of the most qualified candidates would be submitted to the [appointing authority] for review and selection. In this way the public is assured that only the candidates best qualified for a vacancy will ever be considered for judicial appointment.

2 Proceedings of the Constitutional Convention of Hawai'i of 1978, at 345. Thus, from its inception, an overriding purpose of the JSC has been to select as nominees the most qualified applicants for the vacancy to be filled for the appointing authority to consider.

The Hawai'i Constitution, however, does not explicitly require the JSC to select the most qualified applicants as nominees for a vacant position. Neither do the JSC rules. Perhaps that is because this requirement is so self-evident that it was automatically assumed, given the merit-selection purpose for creating the JSC.

However, the Joint Committee finds that there is a clear benefit and value to placing an organization's core purposes in writing, even those that are understood. Amending the JSC rules to explicitly require that the JSC select the most qualified applicants will serve as a North Star for the JSC's actions, reinforcing and providing a constant reminder of its public trust responsibilities. This amendment will also serve to inform and educate the public of the JSC's mission and what it is striving to accomplish.

Our recommended rule amendment also recognizes that the evaluation of applicants' qualifications cannot be done in a vacuum. The determination of who are the most qualified must be directly tied to the particular vacancy to be filled. Different court positions impose different demands, and the background, qualities, and skills necessary to be a successful judge are not the same for all court positions. For example, trial court positions generally place a premium on litigation experience and the ability to make quick decisions and to move a calendar, while appellate court positions place a higher value on writing ability and group decision-making skills. Therefore, our recommended rule amendment requires the JSC to select as nominees those "who are most qualified to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the particular position to be filled." In other words, the JSC's determination of who the most qualified applicants are must be done with specific reference to who will provide the best fit for, and are the most capable of fulfilling, the demands and responsibilities of the particular court position to be filled.

B. Develop Protocols for Training New and Existing Members of the JSC

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that within six months after their appointment, new commissioners shall complete a training program that addresses commissioner responsibilities and ethical obligations, reviews the JSC's rules, and reviews the structure of Hawai'i's courts and the roles of judges. We further recommend that this training requirement be incorporated into the JSC rules as a new Section Four to JSC Rule 5.

Commentary

It appears that currently, training for new commissioners is informal and conducted on an ad hoc basis. However, the Joint Committee finds that training is too important to leave to an informal process. There is a constant turnover of commissioners as their terms are staggered and each commissioner can serve no more than six years. Training is necessary to ensure that commissioners fully understand their role and responsibilities and are engaging in best practices in performing their duties. It is also critical to maintaining high standards and a consistent culture among commissioners.

The Joint Committee recommends that the JSC be required to establish a training program that covers topics that are essential for commissioners to understand and perform their responsibilities. We further recommend that this training requirement be made a part of the JSC rules. This will not only ensure that new commissioners undergo comprehensive, standardized training, but enhance public trust in the judicial selection process and ultimately the courts as a whole. A six-month deadline is imposed for new commissioners to complete the training program so that they will be prepared to "hit the ground running."

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that the JSC's training program shall include the preparation of a manual for commissioners, and that this manual be made accessible to the public. The manual shall include the JSC's history and mission; the JSC's practices, protocols, and procedures; pertinent provisions of the Hawai'i Constitution; the JSC rules; information on the structure of Hawai'i's courts; how judges are selected and disciplined; and case law pertinent to the JSC's work.

_

⁶ Among other appropriate topics, commissioners should receive training on their role in the selection process, the need to abide by the highest ethical standards and uphold the integrity of the selection process, recognizing implicit bias, and the importance of judicial diversity.

Commentary

Requiring the JSC to prepare an official manual for commissioners, and making the manual accessible to the public, will serve to demystify the JSC and, in turn, contribute to enhancing public trust in the selection process. The manual will not only provide a valuable training tool for commissioners, but greater public insight into the JSC's practices, protocols, and procedures. Other states with judicial nominating commissions have made their commissioners' manuals available to the public.⁷

Recommendation

In addition to the mandated training for new commissioners, the Joint Committee recommends that the JSC provide supplementary training and continuing education for all commissioners.

Commentary

Supplemental training and continuing education would benefit all commissioners. They would provide opportunities to address current issues, concerns, and challenges facing commissioners. Virtual and recorded seminars have made conferences and training more accessible and affordable.

C. Streamline the JSC's Voting Rules

Under this category, the Joint Committee considered ways to improve the JSC that are related to its voting rules. One recommendation, previously discussed, is to amend the JSC rules to provide that in voting on nominees, the JSC shall select the applicants who are the most qualified to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the particular position to be filled. We discuss other recommendations relating to JSC voting rules below.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that JSC Rule 6.D be amended to require at least seven commissioners for a quorum where the JSC is voting on judicial retentions and selecting nominees.

Commentary

Currently, JSC Rule 6.D establishes the number of commissioners for a quorum at five and requires the majority vote of all commissioners, i.e., at least five out of the nine commissioners, for the JSC to act. Because Rule 6.D requires at least five votes for the JSC to act, questions about

⁷ For example, Utah and Nebraska post online the manuals for their judicial nominating commissioners.

 $[\]frac{8}{2}$ For purposes of this discussion, we assume that all nine commissioner positions are occupied with no vacancies.

how many commissioners were available to vote have been raised. These questions, in particular, have been raised in connection with votes on judicial retention, where the unavailability of a commissioner to vote due to recusal or absence is effectively a "no" vote against retention. Where the number of commissioners voting is reduced, the percentage of commissioners who must vote "yes" to reach the five votes necessary for retention increases. Where the number of commissioners voting is significantly reduced, concerns about fairness and whether the vote truly represents the will of the JSC become amplified. Similar concerns apply to voting on judicial nominees, where a reduction in the number of commissioners voting makes it more difficult to obtain the five votes necessary to place an applicant on the nominee list.

The Joint Committee's recommendation to raise the requirement for a quorum from five to seven commissioners when the JSC votes on retentions and nominees would help alleviate concerns that a significant reduction in the number of commissioners voting unduly affected the outcome or rendered it unfair. ¹⁰ Raising the quorum requirement for these votes would also ensure that a diversity of viewpoints, a strength of the JSC, is utilized when the JSC acts on its most important decisions.

The Joint Committee was informed by the JSC that it is rare for more than one commissioner to be recused or disqualified from voting on retentions or nominees. Nevertheless, our recommended rule amendment addresses the possibility that less than seven commissioners are available due to recusal, disqualification, and/or one or more commissioner positions being vacant. For this situation, the recommended amendment provides that "a quorum shall be the number of current commission members who are not recused or disqualified, as long as that number is at least five."

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that JSC Rule 6.E be amended to provide that the JSC chairperson or a majority of its members may permit any commissioner to participate in a meeting or conduct business remotely by interactive conference.

⁹ For a judge to secure enough votes to be retained, if nine commissioners vote, 56 percent must vote in favor of retention; if seven commissioners vote, 71 percent must vote in favor of retention; and if only five commissioners vote, 100 percent must vote in favor of retention.

¹⁰ As the Steering Committee's Report notes, Article VI, Section 4 of the Hawai'i Constitution appears to apply a different voting standard ("a concurrence of the majority of the commission's voting members") than JSC Rule 6.D ("majority vote of all commissioners") for acts of the JSC to be valid. The Hawai'i Supreme Court, however, has not definitively interpreted the constitutional provision and therefore its meaning is still not absolutely certain. Moreover, with five commissioners sufficient for a quorum, permitting the JSC to act based on the majority vote of commissioners who cast votes would raise concerns that three commissioners could potentially determine JSC actions. The Joint Committee chose to address concerns relating to the JSC's voting rules by amending the quorum requirement, rather than changing the number of votes necessary for the JSC to act.

Commentary

The existing JSC Rule 6.E permits the chairperson or a majority of the commissioners to call for a meeting or to conduct other business "remotely by interactive conference if the chairperson determines there are extenuating circumstances that warrant remote participation." The rule provides examples of "extenuating circumstances" as "acts of God, perils of health, safety, or welfare, and other extreme emergencies."

The existing rule appears to authorize the JSC to call for meetings in which all commissioners will participate remotely to address situations where holding an in-person meeting would be unsafe or challenging due to extenuating or emergency circumstances. The recommended rule amendment is directed at addressing the more routine situation where the JSC is holding an in-person meeting that certain commissioners would like to attend remotely. The recommended amendment provides and makes clear that the JSC chairperson or a majority of the commissioners may permit any commissioner to participate remotely in a meeting that other commissioners are attending in person, without the need for an "extenuating circumstances" determination.

Improvements in the quality and availability of video conferencing have made remote participation in meetings a viable alternative to in-person attendance in many situations. The recommended rule amendment provides the JSC with greater flexibility to authorize commissioners to participate remotely, thereby increasing commissioner attendance, which strengthens JSC decision-making. However, recognizing that in-person communication is generally more effective than remote communication, especially when commissioners are confidentially assessing and deliberating upon judicial applicant and petitioner qualifications, the recommended amendment also provides that "[i]n-person attendance at commission meetings is preferred and encouraged."

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that JSC Rules 11.C and 12.E be amended to make clear that the "secret ballot" requirement does not limit a commissioner's ability to openly discuss at JSC meetings the qualifications and fitness of any applicant for judicial vacancy or petitioner for retention.

Commentary

JSC Rule 11.C, which pertains to the selection of applicants as nominees, and JSC Rule 12.E., which pertains to petitions for retention, call for commissioners to vote by secret ballot. It appears that some commissioners may be reluctant to openly provide their thoughts on applicants or petitioners at JSC meetings because it would telegraph how they plan to vote, and they believe this may violate the "secret ballot" requirement. The Joint Committee finds that the free and open

¹¹ The "secret ballot" requirement is imposed by JSC rule as the Hawai'i Constitution does not require commissioners to vote by secret ballot.

discussion of the qualifications and fitness of applicants and petitioners at meetings is beneficial and should be encouraged because it leads to better, more informed decision-making. By sharing their views at meetings, commissioners can more thoroughly and effectively evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of applicants and petitioners and can help other commissioners who may lack information about certain applicants and petitioners. The recommended rule amendments will ensure that commissioners who wish to share their views at JSC meetings will not be inhibited from doing so.

D. Define the Term "Deliberations" under Article VI, Section 4 of the Hawai'i Constitution

Under this category, the Joint Committee considered the careful balance between confidentiality and transparency in the judicial selection process. Article VI, Section 4 of the Hawai'i Constitution provides that "[t]he deliberations of the commission shall be confidential." Under our system of government, the Hawai'i Supreme Court is given the ultimate authority to interpret the Hawai'i Constitution. State v. Kaluna, 55 Haw. 361, 369, 520 P.2d 51, 58 (1974). We therefore looked to relevant case law decided by the Hawai'i Supreme Court.

In <u>Pray v. Judicial Selection Commission</u>, 75 Haw. 333, 861 P.2d 723 (1993), the Hawai'i Supreme Court interpreted the term "deliberations" as used in Article VI, Section 4. <u>Pray</u> involved a challenge to the JSC's former Rule 7, which required the JSC to keep confidential "all [of the JSC's] records, proceedings, and business, *including* . . . *the names of nominees forwarded to the appointing authority*." <u>Id.</u> at 339, 861 P.3d at 726. Pray argued that Rule 7's prohibition against disclosing "the names of nominees forwarded to the appointing authority" was incompatible with, and therefore violated, Article VI, Section 4, which only provided that the JSC's "deliberations . . . shall be confidential." Id. at 339-40, 861 P.3d at 726-27.

In its analysis, the Court cited the following dictionary definitions of "deliberation": "[t]he act or *process* of deliberating"; "[t]he act of *weighing* and *examining* the reasons for and against a *contemplated* act or course of conduct or a choice of acts or means"; and "careful consideration *before* decision." <u>Id.</u> at 342, 861 P.2d at 727 (citations omitted). Relying on these definitions, the Court concluded that "the term 'deliberations' encompasses only those acts, processes, or considerations undertaken prior to a final choice or decision." <u>Id.</u>, 861 P.2d at 727-28. It therefore ruled that the JSC's list of judicial nominees, which represented the JSC's final choice or decision, was not a part of the JSC's "deliberations." <u>Id.</u>, 861 P.2d at 728.

Although the Court ruled that Article VI, Section 4 did not require the JSC to keep the list of nominees confidential, it upheld Rule 7's prohibition against disclosing the list of nominees. <u>Id.</u> at 350, 861 P.2d at 731. The Court noted that Article VI, Section 4, which established the JSC, authorized the JSC to "promulgate rules which shall have the force and effect of law." <u>Id.</u> at 338, 861 P.2d 726. The Court concluded that Rule 7's requirement that the nominee lists be kept confidential both facilitated and was consistent with the object sought to be accomplished, and the

evils sought to be remedied, by the constitutional establishment of the JSC. <u>Id.</u> at 349, 861 P.2d at 731.¹² The Court therefore held that Pray had failed to meet his burden of demonstrating that Rule 7 violated Article VI, Section 4. Id. at 350, 861 P.2d at 731.¹³

Defining the term "deliberations" under Article VI, Section 4 presents the larger issue of the balance between confidentiality and transparency in the judicial selection process. As the <u>Pray</u> decision reveals, the JSC, in furtherance of its merit-selection objectives, is empowered to promulgate confidentiality rules that extend beyond its deliberations. Rather than attempt to craft a definition of "deliberations" in the abstract, the Joint Committee addressed the issue of the balance between confidentiality and transparency by focusing on ways to increase transparency without infringing on the legitimate need for confidentiality in the merit selection process.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that the JSC Rule 5, Section 2.A confidentiality provision be amended to make clear that information on the rules, procedures, and practices used by the JSC in performing its responsibilities (as distinguished from its substantive evaluations of, and deliberations on, individual applicants and petitioners) is not confidential and may be publicly disclosed by the JSC.

Commentary

An important way to increase transparency and enhance public trust is to ensure that the public has a thorough understanding of the process used by the JSC in selecting nominees and deciding retention petitions. The recommended rule amendment makes clear that information about the process -- the rules, procedures, and practices -- used by the JSC in selecting nominees and deciding retention petitions is not confidential. Information about the JSC's process is distinct from, and does not reveal, the commissioners' substantive consideration and evaluation of individual applicants or petitioners. Its disclosure, therefore, would not detract from the legitimate need for confidentiality.

It appears, however, that some commissioners may be hesitant to publicly discuss the JSC's rules, procedures, and practices because they are unsure of whether the JSC's existing

_

¹² The Court stated that in establishing the JSC, "the framers intended to divest the appointing authority of the exclusive power of judicial appointment and to interpose a nonpartisan and politically insulated 'merit selection' process of prescreening the universe of potential applicants from which the appointing authority would be required to choose." Pray, 75 Haw. at 349, 861 P.2d at 731. The Court also observed that "it is . . . clear that public disclosure of the names of judicial nominees prior to appointment inevitably *increases* the 'partisan' or 'political' pressures brought to bear on the process." Id. at 347-48, 861 P.2d at 730.

¹³ After Pray was decided, the JSC in 2011 amended its rules to require the JSC to disclose the nominee lists

¹³ After <u>Pray</u> was decided, the JSC in 2011 amended its rules to require the JSC to disclose the nominee lists concurrently with its submission of the lists to the appointing authority. In 2014, the Legislature proposed, and the voters ratified, a constitutional amendment to incorporate this requirement into the Hawai'i Constitution. Based on the 2014 amendment, Article VI, Section 3 now provides, in relevant part: "The judicial selection commission shall disclose to the public the list of nominees for each vacancy concurrently with the presentation of each list to the governor or the chief justice, as applicable."

confidentiality rules limit their ability to reveal such information. The recommended rule amendment would eliminate any such hesitancy by clearly stating in the rule that information on the JSC's rules, procedures, and practices is not confidential. In doing so, the recommended amendment would increase transparency by removing impediments to the JSC's publicly discussing and fully explaining the process the JSC uses in performing its responsibilities.

E. Create Greater Transparency as to the JSC's Rules and Procedures

The Joint Committee notes that a number of our previously discussed recommendations fall within this category. These include our recommendations to amend the JSC rules to: (1) expressly state the core JSC purpose of selecting as nominees the most qualified applicants for the particular vacant position; (2) require the JSC to prepare and make accessible to the public an official commissioners' manual that contains guidance on the JSC's practices, protocols, and procedures; (3) explain that the "secret ballot" requirement does not limit commissioners' ability to openly discuss the qualifications and fitness of applicants and petitioners at JSC meetings; and (4) make clear that information relating to the JSC's rules, procedures, and practices is not confidential. Additional ways to create greater transparency as to the JSC's rules and procedures are for the JSC to publish an annual report and develop other materials to educate the public about the JSC.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that the JSC adopt a new Rule 14 requiring it to prepare an annual report, which shall be published on the JSC's website and submitted to various stakeholders, that details the JSC's activities during the past year.

Commentary

An annual report provides the JSC with the opportunity to communicate with and educate the public about its operations, activities, and accomplishments. The recommended new JSC rule requires that the annual report contain information that is readily available to the JSC, but not currently compiled in a manner that is user-friendly. This includes, for example, demographic information about the applicant pool (such as the number of applicants, gender, type of legal employment, and age ranges) that the JSC provides in its press release announcing the list of nominees, but does not aggregate into annual totals. The recommended new rule requires that the annual report, at minimum, aggregate this demographic information into annual totals and provide a breakdown by court level and circuit as well as provide other relevant statistical information. Providing relevant statistical information will make it easier to spot and examine trends in judicial applications and retentions. ¹⁴ Besides the annual report's mandatory contents, the JSC can use the

_

¹⁴ We note that a commission similar to the JSC, the Commission on Judicial Conduct, submits an annual report of its activities.

report to disseminate information to improve public knowledge and understanding of its operations and responsibilities.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that the JSC develop a brochure or other publication to educate the public on the important role it plays in our community.

Commentary

Transparency and public understanding can be enhanced through education. Public confidence can be improved not only through a better understanding of the process used by the JSC in performing its responsibilities, but the need for confidentiality as an inherent part of the merit-selection process. The Joint Committee recommends that the JSC develop a brochure or other publication to explain to the public the vital role the JSC plays in our community. This publication should cover topics that include the history of the JSC and the system it replaced, why a merit-selection process was chosen, the JSC's role in the selection and retention of judges, the reasons for keeping certain aspects of the JSC's activities confidential, the importance of the JSC in civics and society, and how the public can participate in the judicial selection process.

The Joint Committee acknowledges the JSC's limited budget and the extensive time demands already placed on commissioners and staff. We suggest that coordination with the Civics Education Committee of the HSBA and the current Leadership Institute cohort may offer a way to secure the resources necessary to accomplish this task.

F. Improve Recruitment in Terms of the Quantity and Qualifications of Applicants

Obviously, the greater the number of qualified individuals who apply for judicial vacancies, the better it is for the Judiciary and our community. However, often individuals with the highest qualifications will not actively seek judicial appointment and must be persuaded to apply. Improving recruitment efforts will benefit the selection process by increasing the number of qualified applicants and the diversity of the applicant pool. Diversity among judges ensures that a broad array of perspectives and experiences are brought to the bench, and it engenders public trust and confidence in the fairness of the judicial system.

The Joint Committee recommends a multipronged approach to improving recruitment efforts.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that the HSBA be asked to create an educational series that explains and demystifies the process of becoming a judge.

Commentary

Knowledge is empowering, and an educational series providing information about how to navigate the process of becoming a judge and what decision-makers at each step are looking for can encourage additional qualified individuals to apply. This educational series could include presentations by the JSC, the Governor, the Chief Justice, the Chair of the Senate Judiciary Committee, and judges on how to prepare for and what to expect at each step from application through confirmation. To ensure sufficient access to the educational series, the Joint Committee recommends that it be repeated periodically and made available in a video presentation format.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that efforts be made to secure the direct involvement of individuals and legal community groups who would have the ability to effectively recruit qualified applicants. These could include former JSC commissioners, retired judges, experienced litigators, and HSBA sections and specialty bar associations. Efforts should be made to encourage applications from qualified individuals who can add to the breadth and diversity of the Judiciary.

Commentary

JSC Rule 7.A permits commissioners to "actively seek out and encourage qualified individuals to apply for judicial office." The Joint Committee finds that the recruiting of qualified applicants can also be advanced by directly involving individuals and legal community groups able to identify, and likely to be familiar or personally associated with, highly qualified attorneys. Encouragement from those who know or have a relationship with a qualified attorney can be an especially persuasive form of recruitment and can add to the breadth and diversity of the applicant pool.¹⁵

It has been a challenge to secure ample applicant pools for certain Neighbor Island vacancies. The Joint Committee recommends amplifying direct recruitment of Neighbor Island applicants to address this issue. This could include enlisting Neighbor Island county bar associations to play a more active role in recruiting.

Recommendation

The Joint Committee recommends that efforts be made to encourage qualified lawyers to consider becoming a judge by shedding light on what it means to serve as a judge and how fulfilling it can be.

-

¹⁵ <u>See</u> Kate Berry, Building a Diverse Bench: A Guide for Judicial Nominating Commissioners, Brennan Center for Justice (2016), available at https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/policy-solutions/building-diverse-bench-guide-judicial-nominating-commissioners.

Commentary

Many qualified lawyers do not actively think about becoming judges. This may be because judicial positions are limited, lawyers lack control over whether they will be selected as a judge, and qualified lawyers generally are already engaged in successful careers. To encourage qualified lawyers to consider becoming judges, the Joint Committee recommends that efforts be made to provide greater awareness of how meaningful and satisfying judicial service can be. These efforts could include the Judiciary's formation of a speakers bureau comprised of current and former judges willing to share their backgrounds and experiences as well as the publication of articles in the Hawai'i Bar Journal on judicial service.

Members of the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection

- Levi K. Hoʻokano, appointed by the Hawaiʻi State Bar Association
- Mihoko E. Ito, appointed by the Hawai'i Women Lawyers
- Walter S. Kirimitsu, appointed by the Senate President
- David M. Louie, appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives
- Craig H. Nakamura, Chair, appointed by the Chief Justice of the Hawai'i Supreme Court
- Dana M.O. Viola, appointed by the Governor

APPENDIX A: House Concurrent Resolution 5, Senate Draft 1

1 2

3 4

5 6

8 9

10

11

12 13

14

15

16

17 18 19

20

21 22 23

2425

26

27 28

29 30

31

32

HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION

ESTABLISHING A JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUDICIAL SELECTION.

WHEREAS, Hawai'i's Judicial Selection Commission was proposed by the 1978 Constitutional Convention as a method of selecting judges based solely on their qualifications and not on political patronage; and

WHEREAS, this merit-based selection process was intended to assure the public that only the candidates best qualified for a vacancy would be considered for judicial appointment; and

WHEREAS, doubts have been raised over the years regarding the selection and retention of judges and justices and the closed and confidential operations of the Judicial Selection Commission; and

WHEREAS, Hawai'i's judicial selection process is shrouded in unlimited secrecy due to strict laws and rules regulating disclosure; and

WHEREAS, deliberations of the Judicial Selection Commission are further determined to be confidential pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i; and

WHEREAS, to keep deliberations confidential, the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission provide, in perpetuity, blanket confidentiality for information relating to the identity of any applicant, information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners, and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject; and

WHEREAS, the only time an applicant's name is publicly released is upon nomination by the Judicial Selection Commission

H.C.R. NO. 5 S.D. 1

for a vacant judicial position as provided by the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i; and

WHEREAS, the continued opacity of Hawai'i's judicial selection process may further erode public confidence in the judicial selection process and, by extension, the Judiciary; and

WHEREAS, Hawai'i's merit-based judicial selection process can only be preserved through public confidence and public confidence requires full disclosure of the process and the need for confidentiality as an inherent part of merit-based judicial selection; and

WHEREAS, to preserve Hawai'i's merit-based selection process, it is critical that the public has a clear understanding of the thorough process utilized by the Judicial Selection Commission in selecting and retaining judges and justices; and

 WHEREAS, the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission do not identify any clear or measurable evaluation standards for applicants or petitioners for judicial office, including standards that address the specific skills that are required for trial or appellate courts and the knowledge required for courts with specialized jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, establishing clear, defined standards for evaluating applicants and petitioners for judicial office will promote public confidence that the best qualified applicants are being selected and quality petitioners are retained in a consistent manner and assure applicants and petitioners that they will be held to predictable and transparent standards; and

WHEREAS, the efficiency and operations of the Judicial Selection Commission could also be improved with an orientation program for new members of the Commission and annual training for all members of the Commission; and

 WHEREAS, the Judicial Selection Commission's voting process can be streamlined by amending the voting system, voting for multiple lists at the same time, or authorizing remote participation; now, therefore,

H.C.R. NO. 5 S.D. 1

1 2 3 4	Thirty-fi of 2021,	T RESOLVED by the House of Representatives of the rst Legislature of the State of Hawaiʻi, Regular Session the Senate concurring, that the Joint Committee on Selection is requested to be established to work with
5	the Judic	ial Selection Commission and Judiciary to:
6 7 8	(1)	Develop clear, written standards for evaluating applicants and petitioners for judicial office;
9 10 11	(2)	Develop protocols for training new and existing members of the Judicial Selection Commission;
12 13 14	(3)	Streamline the Judicial Selection Commission's voting rules;
15 16 17	(4)	Define the term "deliberations" under article VI, section 4, of the Hawai'i State Constitution; and
18 19 20 21	(5)	Create greater transparency as to the rules and procedures applicable to the Judicial Selection Commission; and
22 23 24		T FURTHER RESOLVED that the Joint Committee on Judicial is requested to consist of the following members:
25 26 27	(1)	One member appointed by the Speaker of the House of Representatives;
28 29	(2)	One member appointed by the Senate President;
30 31	(3)	One member appointed by the Governor;
32 33 34	(4)	One member appointed by the Chief Justice of the Hawai'i Supreme Court;
35 36 37	(5)	One member appointed by the Hawai'i State Bar Association; and
38 39	(6)	One member appointed by Hawai'i Women Lawyers; and
40 41	BE T	T FURTHER RESOLVED that the Joint Committee on Judicial

42

Selection is requested to work with the Judicial Selection

H.C.R. NO. 5 S.D. 1

Commission to improve recruitment in terms of quantity of applicants, in addition to qualifications of applicants; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Legislative Reference Bureau is requested to assist the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection, with the assistance of the Legislative Reference Bureau, is requested to submit a report of its findings and recommendations, including any proposed legislation, to the Legislature no later than forty days prior to the convening of the Regular Session of 2022; and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a certified copy of this Concurrent Resolution be transmitted to the Governor, Speaker of the House of Representatives, President of the Senate, Chief Justice of the Hawai'i Supreme Court, Chairperson of the Judicial Selection Commission, Executive Director of the Hawai'i State Bar Association, and Director of the Legislative Reference Bureau.

APPENDIX B: Judicial Selection Commission Steering Committee Report

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION STEERING COMMITTEE REPORT

2021

A Report to the Legislature of the State of Hawaii



Prepared by the House Majority Staff Office Hawaii State House of Representatives 415 S. Beretania Street Honolulu, Hawaii 96813

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Contents

Introduction	1
Background	3
Origin of the Judicial Selection Commission in Hawaii	3
1978 Constitutional Convention	3
Constitutional Framework for Judicial Selection in Hawaii	4
Judicial Appointment	4
Judicial Retention	5
Qualifications	6
Judicial Selection Commission	6
Rules of the Judicial Selection Commission	7
General	7
Abuse of Position	7
Confidentiality	8
Conflicts of Interest	8
Application and Petition	9
Investigation and Interview	9
Voting: Applicants	10
Voting: Petitioners	11
Transmittal to the Appointing Authority	11
Discussion	12
Transparency and Confidentiality	12
General Information	12
Deliberations	12
Disclosure of Applicant Names	13
Selection of Nominees	14
Merit Principles	14
Written Standards	15
Number of Nominees	17

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Composition and Operations of the Judicial Selection Commission	18
Composition of the Commission	18
Operations of the Commission	18
Recommendations	
Constitutional Amendment on Merit Principles	21
Concurrent Resolution Establishing the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection	21
Steering Committee Members	
Appendices	24

INTRODUCTION

Introduction

Hawaii's Judicial Selection Commission was created over forty years ago and has been widely praised for its work in selecting and retaining judges. Over the years, Hawaii's Judicial Selection Commission has been subject to review by various community groups, including the Citizens' Conferences on Judicial Selection in 1989 and 1993, Hawaii League of Women Voters in 2003, and American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter. Despite the success of the Commission, concerns have been raised on occasion regarding transparency, confidentiality, political influence, bias, and the standards for selecting and retaining judges.

Recognizing the importance of public confidence in the judicial selection process, a group of interested individuals formed the ad hoc Judicial Selection Commission Steering Committee in October 2020 to engage in meaningful discussion about the status and potential improvement of Hawaii's judicial selection process. The Steering Committee determined early on that it did not support the election of judges and justices. The Steering Committee's primary goal was to determine whether any constitutional amendments, legislation, or rule amendments should be proposed to the Legislature to improve Hawaii's Judicial Selection Commission.

Once the Steering Committee formed, it began compiling and reviewing various sources of information, including the Hawaii State Constitution; the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission; the journals of the 1978 Constitutional Convention; relevant case law; reports created by community groups and organizations, such as the American Judicature Society and Brennan Center for Justice; and the laws and regulations of other states. The Steering Committee reached out to several key stakeholders in the State to solicit input on potential changes to the Commission. These stakeholders included current and former members of the Commission, retired justices of the Hawaii State Supreme Court, and representatives from the Judiciary, the Hawaii State Bar Association, Hawaii Women Lawyers, and the Committee on Judicial Selection, Retention, and Accountability of the American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter.

The Steering Committee's discussions primarily focused on improvements in the following three areas:

• Transparency and confidentiality;

INTRODUCTION

- The selection of nominees; and
- The composition and operations of the Commission.

Taking into consideration the feedback it received from stakeholders, the Steering Committee voted to recommend the following actions:

- (1) Propose an amendment to the Hawaii State Constitution to require the Judicial Selection Commission to be guided by principles of merit in the selection of judicial nominations and the retention of judges and justices; and
- (2) Establish, by Concurrent Resolution, a Joint Committee on Judicial Selection to work with the Judicial Selection Commission and Judiciary to:
 - (A) Develop clear, written standards for evaluating applicants and petitioners for judicial office;
 - (B) Develop protocols for training new and existing members of the Judicial Selection Commission;
 - (C) Streamline the Judicial Selection Commission's voting rules;
 - (D) Define the term "deliberations" under article VI, section 4, of the Hawaii State Constitution; and
 - (E) Create greater transparency as to the rules and procedures applicable to the Judicial Selection Commission.

To implement these recommendations, the Steering Committee has included proposed legislation for consideration by the Legislature under Appendices C and D of this report.

The Steering Committee's goal for this report is to not only provide a written record of its recommendations and discussions over the past several months, but to also provide the Legislature and the public with information regarding the history of the Judicial Selection Commission, the current Commission's rules and operations, and suggestions to improve the Hawaii's existing judicial selection process.

BACKGROUND

Background

ORIGIN OF THE JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION IN HAWAII

1978 Constitutional Convention

Hawaii's current judicial selection process was largely proposed by the 1978 Constitutional Convention and ratified by the electorate on November 5, 1978, in response to concerns raised about the previous system of appointment. During the 1978 Constitutional Convention, many citizens and attorneys felt that the previous system, whereby judges were appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate, reflected partisan politics and did not ensure that the highest caliber of attorneys in the community were being considered for judicial vacancies. For many, the possibility of political influence and potential for abuse were risks too great to leave unaddressed. Furthermore, the Committee on the Judiciary of the 1978 Constitutional Convention felt that the public should not be deprived of having the most qualified candidate for a judicial appointment.

The majority of people who testified at the 1978 Constitutional Convention before the Committee on the Judiciary, including the Hawaii State Bar Association, supported the concept of a nonpartisan judicial selection commission, which could screen qualified candidates for judicial appointments. At that time, 29 states had adopted some form of a judicial selection commission, which was more than twice the number of states that adopted this type of system during the 1968 Constitutional Convention. To the Committee on the Judiciary, this nationwide trend demonstrated that judicial selection commissions were the best means of obtaining qualified judges and justices. Accordingly, the Committee on the Judiciary summarized the major reasons for establishing a Judicial Selection Commission as follows:

- (1) It removes the selection of judges from the political consideration of one person and places it in the hands of a nonpartisan board of citizens;
- (2) The choice of nominees is made without consideration or influence of partisan politics;
- (3) It forms an independent panel of commissioners whose sole and exclusive function is to seek out, encourage, and screen all candidates for judicial appointments;

- (4) It includes both lawyers and laypersons' views in the selection of judges; and
- (5) It permits consideration of many more qualified candidates who might otherwise be overlooked by the one person.

The Committee on the Judiciary believed that a Judicial Selection Commission would provide a Judiciary that would be better qualified in the long run to deal with increasing and increasingly complex litigation.

Delegates believed that having a Judicial Selection Commission carefully screen candidates for judicial vacancies would assure the public that all names on the list submitted to the appointing authority would be very highly qualified. The expectation was that the qualifications of any nominee would be such that there would be no basis upon which the Senate could reject the nominee.

Additionally, the Committee on the Judiciary felt that the retention of judges and justices through review by a nonpartisan Judicial Selection Commission is more desirable than simple reappointment by either the Governor or Chief Justice. Delegates believed that requiring judges and justices to resubmit to review by the unbiased Commission at the end of their term would ensure that the qualifications of judicial candidates would be the paramount consideration in any retention process.

CONSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK FOR JUDICIAL SELECTION IN HAWAII

Judicial Appointment

In Hawaii, judges and justices are chosen through a variation of the merit selection process. Under this process, the Governor appoints judges and justices for vacancies in the Hawaii Supreme Court, Intermediate Court of Appeals, and Circuit Courts from a list of four to six nominees submitted by the Judicial Selection Commission. For District Court vacancies, the Chief Justice of the Hawaii Supreme Court appoints judges from a list of no less than six nominees submitted by the Commission. However, prior to appointment, all appointees are subject to confirmation by the Hawaii State Senate.

Although the Hawaii State Constitution does not provide a time limit before which the Judicial Selection Commission must present the list of nominees to the appointing authority, the Committee on the Judiciary of the 1978 Constitutional Convention intended

that the Commission act deliberately and carefully in preparing the list while also remembering the needs of the public in having the position filled. Upon presentation of the list of nominees to the appointing authority, the Judicial Selection Commission must concurrently disclose the list to the public.

If the Governor or Chief Justice fails to make any appointment within 30 days of presentation, or within ten days of the Senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the Judicial Selection Commission must appoint an individual from the list with the consent of the Senate.

If the Senate fails to reject an appointment to the Supreme Court, Intermediate Court of Appeals, or Circuit Courts within 30 days of receiving the appointment notice, the appointee is automatically considered appointed to the judicial position. However, if the Senate rejects the appointment, the Governor must make another appointment from the list within ten days. The appointment and consent procedure will be followed until a valid appointment is made, or failing this, then the Judicial Selection Commission must make the appointment from the list without Senate consent.

On the other hand, the Senate is constitutionally mandated to conduct a public hearing and vote on each nominee for a District Court vacancy within 30 days of appointment. If the Senate fails to do so, the nomination is returned to the Judicial Selection Commission and the Commission must make the appointment from the list without Senate consent.

Unlike full-time District Court judges, per diem District Court judges are appointed by the Chief Justice as provided by law and are not subject to the Judicial Selection Commission process.

Judicial Retention

Justices of the Supreme Court and judges of the Intermediate Court of Appeals and Circuit Courts serve ten-year terms of office, while District Court judges hold office for a statutorily prescribed term of six years. To be retained in office, judges and justices must petition the Judicial Selection Commission for retention at least six months before completing their terms of office. If the Commission determines that the judge or justice

should be retained, it may renew the judge's or justice's term in office by a majority vote of the Commission's voting members.

Qualifications

All judges and justices must be residents of the State, citizens of the United States, and licensed to practice law by the Hawaii State Supreme Court for no less than ten years preceding nomination to the Supreme Court, Intermediate Court of Appeals, or Circuit Courts or no less than five years preceding nomination to the District Courts.

To eliminate the possibility of conflicts of interest that might arise through either the private or public sector, all judges and justices are prohibited from engaging in the practice of law or running or holding any other office or position during their term of office.

Judicial Selection Commission

Hawaii's constitutionally established Judicial Selection Commission is comprised of nine members serving staggered six-year terms. Members of the Commission are appointed or elected as follows:

- The Governor appoints two members, only one of whom may be a licensed attorney;
- The President of the Senate and Speaker of the House of Representatives each appoint two members;
- The Chief Justice appoints one member; and
- Members in good standing of the Hawaii State Bar Association elect two members.

No more than four members of the Judicial Selection Commission may be licensed attorneys, and at least one member must be a resident of a neighbor island. All members must be a resident of the State and citizen of the United States.

The Hawaii State Constitution requires the Judicial Selection Commission to be selected and operate in a wholly nonpartisan manner. To this end, members are prohibited from running for or holding any other elected office or taking an active part in

political management or campaigns. Members may only serve for six years on the Commission and are not eligible for judicial office in the State until three years after completion of their term.

Acts by the Judicial Selection Commission are only valid upon the concurrence of the majority of its voting members and deliberations of the Commission are confidential. The Commission must adopt rules which shall have the force and effect of law.

RULES OF THE JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION

General

Pursuant to the Hawaii State Constitution, the Judicial Selection Commission has two principal functions: selecting nominees for vacancies in the Judiciary and determining whether incumbent judges and justices should be retained in office. Commissioners hold positions of public trust and are required to conduct themselves in a manner that reflects credit upon the judicial selection process.

The Chairperson of the Judicial Selection Commission must call at least one meeting each year for the principal purpose of reviewing or amending Commission rules and operating procedures and briefing new commissioners.

A quorum of the Judicial Selection Commission is five commissioners. Actions by the Commission require a majority vote of *all* commissioners, even though the Hawaii State Constitution only requires concurrence of the majority of the Commission's *voting* members

Abuse of Position

The Judicial Selection Commission's code of conduct prohibit commissioners from:

(1) Using or attempting to use their official position to secure privileges or exemptions for the commissioner or others;

- (2) Attempting, soliciting, or agreeing to accept any gift, favor, or anything of value based upon any understanding, explicit or implicit, that the commissioner's official actions, decisions, or judgments would be influenced; and
- (3) Requesting or accepting any fee or compensation on Commission-related matters.

Commissioners must use the Commission's resources, property, and funds judiciously and solely in accordance with laws and regulations. Each commissioner must immediately report any attempt to induce the commissioner to violate these standards to the Commission.

Confidentiality

To keep the Judicial Selection Commission's deliberations confidential, the Commission specifically requires information relating to the identity of any applicant, information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners, and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject to be kept confidential in perpetuity and not disclosed outside of any Commission meeting.

Conflicts of Interest

Commissioners must avoid conflicts of interest and exercise diligence in becoming aware of conflicts. If a commissioner has any personal, business, or legal relationship with an applicant or a petitioner, the commissioner must report this relationship to the Judicial Selection Commission. The Commission must decide on the commissioner's involvement in the proceedings concerning the applicant or petitioner. The Commission may publicly announce when a commissioner does not vote and may disclose its decision on this issue. If a commissioner has a substantive matter before a judge or justice who is petitioning the Commission for retention, then the commissioner may not participate in the retention proceeding.

Commissioners must consider each applicant and petitioner for a judicial office in an impartial, objective manner, and may not discriminate in the conduct of Judicial Selection Commission business.

Application and Petition

In pursuit of individuals with the highest qualifications, commissioners may actively seek out and encourage qualified individuals to apply for judicial office. The Judicial Selection Commission may also publicize judicial vacancies.

Applicants for judicial vacancies and petitioners for judicial retention must submit forms to the Judicial Selection Commission providing various information on their education history, professional qualifications and skills, professional and community activities, criminal record, litigation history, health status, and references. Judges and justices are also required to submit a copy of all Hawaii State Bar Association judicial evaluation reports.

The Judicial Selection Commission must publicize the fact that a judge or justice has petitioned the Commission for retention so that all persons who might be interested are given the opportunity to submit their views.

Judicial vacancies and petitions for retention are usually publicized on the Judiciary's website and by the Hawaii State Bar Association.

Investigation and Interview

After the Judicial Selection Commission receives an application, it may vote to eliminate applicants it evaluates to be unqualified for judicial office. One or more commissioners may be designated by the Commission to review the qualifications of applicants and make recommendations regarding the applicants to the Commission. These recommendations may be accepted or rejected upon majority vote of the Commission.

The Judicial Selection Commission, or one or more commissioners, may interview applicants and conduct investigations into their backgrounds and qualifications. It is unclear under the rules of the Commission whether the Commission may or must

interview and investigate petitioners for retention.¹ When evaluating applicants and petitioners, the Commission must consider the individual's background, professional skills, and character. The Commission may also consider other qualities, including integrity and moral courage, legal ability and experience, intelligence and wisdom, compassion and fairness, diligence and decisiveness, judicial temperament, and any other qualities that the Commission deems appropriate.

At meetings held for the purpose of considering a petition for retention, the Chairperson or acting Chairperson may administer oaths and affirmations to any person testifying. The Judicial Selection Commission may issue subpoenas to compel the attendance of witnesses and production of pertinent books, papers, and documents. The Commission may also hold open or closed hearings for interested parties to testify.

Voting: Applicants

After a report is made to the Judicial Selection Commission on the investigations and interviews conducted, the Chairperson must open the meeting to a discussion of each applicant's qualifications for judicial office. Upon completion of its evaluation of applications, the Commission must meet for the purpose of selecting four to six nominees for a vacancy in the Supreme Court, Intermediate Court of Appeals, and Circuit Courts, and no less than six nominees for a vacancy in the District Courts.

Commissioners must vote by secret ballot with each commissioner voting to select the number of qualified nominees for any given judicial office vacancy. If the initial ballot produces less than the stipulated number of nominees, voting must continue for the remaining nominee positions. The rules require that each nominee be selected by a majority vote of the nine commissioners. Applicants may be nominated for more than one judicial office vacancy.

-

¹ Rule 9 states that the Judicial Selection Commission may interview petitioners and conduct investigations into their backgrounds and qualifications. However, Rule 12 requires the Commission to promptly commence an investigation into the petitioner's qualifications upon receipt of a petition and interview the petitioner.

Voting: Petitioners

Commissioners must vote by secret ballot on whether a petitioner should be retained in office and attempt to make this decision within 30 days before the expiration of the petitioner's current term in office. A petitioner's term in office may not be extended except by a majority vote of all commissioners.

If the petitioner is retained, the Judicial Selection Commission must issue an order renewing the petitioner's term of office as provided by law. If the petitioner is denied retention, the Commission must issue an order that states the petition was denied. A petitioner may withdraw their petition for retention before the issuance of an order by the Commission.

Transmittal to the Appointing Authority

The alphabetized list of nominees for a judicial vacancy must be hand-delivered to the appointing authority. No other information may be forwarded to the appointing authority, except that the Judicial Selection Commission may also submit a factual summary of the nominees' backgrounds based on material provided by the nominees and consult with the appointing authority on request.

Discussion

TRANSPARENCY AND CONFIDENTIALITY

General Information

According to the Special Committee on Judicial Selection and Retention of the American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter:

When the public knows little or nothing about a process, suspicion about what goes on can grow. In the merit selection process, confidentiality is crucial. The primary goal is to protect merit selection. Merit selection can only be preserved through public confidence. Public confidence requires full disclosure of the process and the need for confidentiality as an inherent part of merit selection. Often times, confidentiality is viewed as secrecy. In preserving merit selection, it is therefore, critical that the public have a clear understanding of the thorough process utilized by the [Judicial Selection Commission] in nominating judges.

Several Steering Committee meetings addressed the careful balance between transparency and confidentiality during the judicial selection process. Although most Steering Committee members and stakeholders were unclear about how the Judicial Selection Commission operates, many were apprehensive about opening the process up. Some Steering Committee members and stakeholders suggested that transparency could be improved by releasing general information about the Commission's processes to better inform the public about the Commission's functions and operations.

Deliberations

Under the Hawaii State Constitution, deliberations of the Judicial Selection Commission are confidential. The Commission further expanded the scope of this confidentiality under its rules to include, in perpetuity, information relating to the identity of any applicant, information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners, and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject. The only time an

applicant's name is publicly released is upon nomination by the Commission for a vacant judicial position as provided by the Hawaii State Constitution.

After reviewing the proceedings and committee reports of the 1978 Constitutional Convention, as well as the Hawaii Supreme Court case Pray v. Judicial Selection Comm'n of State, members of the Steering Committee decided that the term "deliberations," as used in the Hawaii State Constitution, should be examined and clearly defined. Most of the Steering Committee believed that defining this term would help refocus the intent of the confidentiality requirement under the Hawaii State Constitution and lead to reconsideration of what should be confidential during the judicial selection process.

Disclosure of Applicant Names

Another suggested proposal to publicly release the names of applicants for judicial positions was met with mixed reactions from members of the Steering Committee and stakeholders. Many stakeholders expressed concerns that the release of applicant names would lead to fewer individuals applying for vacancies or result in people lobbying the Judicial Selection Commission. Stakeholders discussed how many private practice attorneys are already apprehensive about applying for judicial vacancies because it could adversely impact their standing in firms or with clients if they are not selected. Stakeholders were also concerned that the disclosure of applicant names would result in fewer women applying for vacancies, which is an even greater concern now that women appear to be leaving the workforce at a disproportionate rate due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Conversely, other members of the Steering Committee and stakeholders felt that releasing the names of applicants could have the opposite effect by increasing the number of quality applicants for judicial vacancies, including women. A member of the Steering Committee made the observation that the Judicial Selection Commission's confidentiality rule is not attracting more people since the number of applicants has been lower over the past few years. The Steering Committee also noted that several other jurisdictions disclose the names of applicants and the Hawaii State Constitution does not prevent the disclosure of applicant names. During the 1978 Constitutional Convention, several delegates argued against making the receipt and review of applicants for judicial positions confidential under the Hawaii State Constitution for various reasons, including

concerns about transparency and the lack of public input. According to one delegate, there was no reason to keep an applicant's name confidential because it was believed that the pride in having the community know that a person's name is being considered for a judicial position outweighed the potential embarrassment that an applicant would face if it became known that the applicant did not receive a nomination. The delegate also pointed out that people would be able figure out who applied anyway since the Commission conducts investigations of applicants.

According to commentary by the American Judicature Society for its Model Judicial Selection Provisions:

Finding the appropriate balance between preserving the privacy of judicial applicants and providing transparency in the screening process is one of the greatest challenges that nominating commissions face. Applicants should be protected from public scrutiny regarding their private lives and from public embarrassment that could result from failure to receive a nomination. At the same time, the public should have sufficient knowledge of the nominating process to maintain confidence in that process.

SELECTION OF NOMINEES

Merit Principles

Although Hawaii's judicial selection process is depicted as a merit selection, the Steering Committee noted that neither the Hawaii State Constitution nor the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission require the Commission to select and retain the most qualified applicants and petitioners.

According to the American Judicature Society, merit selection is when a nonpartisan commission of lawyers and nonlawyers locate, recruit, investigate, and evaluate applicants for judgeship and submit the names of the most highly qualified applicants to the appointing authority. The American Judicature Society's Model Judicial Selection Provisions suggests constitutionally or statutorily requiring the judicial nominating commission to nominate the best qualified persons for each vacancy. The

reason the process is called "merit selection" is because the commission chooses applicants on the basis of their qualifications rather than political and social connections.

A longstanding concern among the public is whether the Judicial Selection Commission is actually selecting and retaining the most qualified judges and justices based on merit, as was originally intended by the delegates of the 1978 Constitutional Convention. Several nominations over the years have been criticized by the public as being politically motivated due to the applicant's perceived lack of experience or qualifications for judicial office, but strong political and social connections. A 2003 report commissioned by Hawaii's Judiciary found that the public generally views judicial selection, appointment, and retention as part of a "closed" process that "is run by and for the benefit of political insiders; i.e., an 'old boy network." Some prior commissioners even indicated to the Brennan Center for Justice that there may be a rebuttable presumption in favor of retaining sitting judges and justices so that only the really bad judges or justices are denied retention, but not the mediocre.

Based on its meetings with stakeholders, the Steering Committee discovered that although the Judicial Selection Commission strives to select the "most qualified" applicants, it will sometimes pick the "best" applicants or may balance the list between male and female applicants. Some stakeholders felt that it is not necessary for the Commission to be required to select and retain the "most qualified" individuals because the Commission's rules already provide standards. However, as of December 3, 2019, the Standing Committee on Judicial Selection, Retention, and Accountability of the American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter, reported that there are still perceptions in the community concerning the conduct of the Commission; namely, that the Commission does not uniformly or fairly consider all judicial candidates.

Written Standards

In 1998, former federal District Court Judge Samuel P. King noted that recent criticisms of Hawaii's Judicial Selection Commission "stem from doubts about the standards for selection actually used by the [C]ommission." When the topic of standards was brought up in Steering Committee discussions, some felt that the evaluation criteria listed in the rules of the Commission and application forms sufficiently informed the public about the criteria for selection and retention. However, interviews with

commissioners conducted by the Brennan Center for Justice revealed that the permissive evaluation criteria listed in the rules of Commission are not always weighed in any consistent way. This inconsistent application may explain why the Special Committee on Judicial Selection and Retention of the American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter, urged the Commission in 2003 to make the permissive evaluation criteria mandatory in all cases.

Other Steering Committee members and stakeholders felt that the judicial selection process would benefit from having clear or measurable evaluation standards, including standards that addresses the specific skills that are required for trial or appellate courts and courts with specialized jurisdiction. According to the American Judicature Society's Model Judicial Selection Provisions, the use of written, uniform rules reassures the public and potential applicants that the process is designed to treat all applicants equally and to nominate the best qualified persons.

To assist commissioners, the American Judicature Society's Handbook for Judicial Nominating Commissioners provides sixteen suggested criteria for evaluating applicants for judicial office and lists over one hundred suggested measures for evaluation. The Handbook also provides guidance on which criteria are important based on the judicial role being filled. For example, decisiveness, speaking ability, and conversance with alternative dispute resolution techniques are of particular importance for trial judges, whereas collegiality and writing ability are of greater importance for appellate judges and justices. According to the American Judicature Society's Model Judicial Selection Provisions, each judicial vacancy should be treated individually to the greatest extent possible, especially if the judicial vacancy requires specialized knowledge and legal experience, such as family law or juvenile matters.

The Steering Committee also reviewed the standards used in other jurisdictions, such as Connecticut. Regulations for Connecticut's Judicial Selection Commission provide several minimum qualifications for judicial office based on the candidate's reputation, judicial temperament, legal ability, and physical or mental health, as well as considerations militating against recommendation, including conviction, censure, and prejudicial personal conduct and characteristics. These regulations also require consideration of two sets of criteria: one for evaluating candidates for judicial office and another for evaluating incumbent judges who seek reappointment or elevation to a

different court. For example, one criterion for incumbent judges who seek reappointment considers whether the judge has the ability to clearly and logically explain the facts and issues of a case and relevant legal precedent in written opinions.

Establishing specific criteria for different judicial roles was contemplated during the 1993 Citizens Conference on Judicial Selection, where 67 percent of participants favored an amendment to the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission to require significant litigation experience as a qualification for trial judges. This litigation experience could include experience with pre-trial formal procedures, such as depositions, interrogatories, and other discovery methods; alternative dispute resolution mediation; arbitration and administrative hearings; or civil and criminal trials. Participants felt like having this type of experience would ensure that judges have a working familiarity with the law and technical rules before they become trial judges which may avoid costly appeals and retrials that are the result of judges having to learn on the job.

Resource materials also noted that Hawaii's judicial retention process, which rarely results in denied petitions, has raised several concerns over the years, including the perception of prejudice against women and bias in favor of men, and that potentially lenient and overly subjective retention standards make it difficult to remove poorly performing judges or justices. According to the Brennan Center for Justice, clarifying the Judicial Selection Commission's "evaluation process and publicly releasing some of the materials used to assess judges for retention could bolster confidence in the system and promote greater judicial independence." In Arizona, the Commission on Judicial Performance Review evaluates each judge or justice up for retention to assess the judge's or justice's legal ability, integrity, communication skills, judicial temperament, and administrative performance. The Arizona Commission considers several factors, including survey data and public comments, and rates and scores judges and justices in each category to determine whether they meet or do not meet judicial performance standards.

Number of Nominees

The Steering Committee also discussed the possibility of reverting back to requiring the Judicial Selection Commission to nominate six individuals for vacancies in

the Hawaii Supreme Court, Intermediate Court of Appeals, and Circuit Courts. Several members and stakeholders noted that the Commission sometimes does not receive six applicants for these positions and that it can be hard to get a large applicant pool on neighbor islands. Nevertheless, members felt that the Commission should have the aspirational goal of selecting the greatest number of qualified applicants, whenever feasible, to give the appointing authority the widest latitude in selecting appointees pursuant to their constitutional obligations. If six qualified applicants apply for an appellate court vacancy, the Commission should aspire to nominate all six applicants. The Steering Committee recognizes that to achieve this goal, the Commission may have to amend it rules, including its voting rules, to ensure that the Commission is nominating the maximum number of qualified applicants, not the minimum.

COMPOSITION AND OPERATIONS OF THE JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION

Composition of the Commission

There was some discussion among the Steering Committee about the possibility of amending the composition of the Judicial Selection Commission to increase the number of commissioners, add ex officio commissioners, and redistribute the number of attorneys and non-attorneys. A few stakeholders expressed interest in the idea of amending the composition of the Commission; however, others were content with the current composition.

Operations of the Commission

The Steering Committee members and stakeholders identified several potential areas where the operations of the Judicial Selection Commission could be improved upon, including streamlining voting and formalizing training.

Voting

The Steering Committee discussed multiple ways the Judicial Selection Commission could streamline its voting process, such as changing the voting system, voting for multiple lists at the same time, or authorizing remote participation. As previously mentioned, the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission appear to establish

a different voting requirement than the Hawaii State Constitution, which requires concurrence of the majority of the Commission's voting members, not a majority of all commissioners. When proposing this language, the Committee on the Judiciary of the 1978 Constitutional Convention anticipated that there may be situations where commissioners are involved in a conflict of interest while serving on the Commission. The Committee on the Judiciary intended for the Legislature, not the Commission, to provide for such situations. One delegate to the 1978 Constitutional Convention worried that the language in the Hawaii State Constitution could result in situations where there are only five voting members and judges and justices are selected by a vote of three members. The delegate believed that this was not the intention of the provision, but that the language did not properly address this particular problem.

In its 2003 report, the Special Committee on Judicial Selection and Retention of the American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter, questioned why the Judicial Selection Commission requires five votes instead of a majority of the members able to vote. The Special Committee urged the Commission to establish, by rule, that the majority requirement for voting applies to voting members and define "voting members" "as all [c]ommissioners who can vote on a specific matter taking into account vacancies and recusals." The Special Committee felt that at the very least the Commission could amend the majority requirement for retention votes since that is when the power of a minority is of most concern.

Training

It appears that the onboarding of new commissioners is provided by existing commissioners on an informal basis. Commissioners serve staggered terms, which has a stabilizing effect and allows existing members to educate incoming commissioners about their duties and the Judicial Selection Commission's processes. Nevertheless, the Steering Committee discussed the need for a more formalized system of training for the Commission, including orientation for new commissioners and annual continuing education for all commissioners.

In 2003, the Special Committee on Judicial Selection and Retention of the American Judicature Society, Hawaii Chapter, felt strongly about the need to resume and maintain training for commissioners on a regular basis and recommended requiring American Judicature Society training for all commissioners. As part of this

recommendation, the Special Committee also recommended that appointing authorities for the Judicial Selection Commission be invited and that there be a public component of the training process for interested individuals and groups to learn more about the merit selection process and how it functions.

To help educate commissioners, the American Judicature Society developed a one-day program called the Institute for Judicial Nominating Commissioners, which brings busy commissioners together to assess the procedures they use to select judicial nominees. To participate in the program jurisdictions can contact the American Judicature Society or seek out additional information and training aides, such as the Facilitator's Guide, from the American Judicature Society.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Recommendations

After much deliberation, the ad hoc Judicial Selection Commission Steering Committee voted to adopt the following two legislative proposals. Both proposals were unanimously approved by all members of the Steering Committee and received wide support from the various legal community stakeholders consulted. The goal of the ad hoc Judicial Selection Commission Steering Committee in making these recommendations to the Legislature is to improve upon Hawaii's existing judicial selection process, particularly with regard to transparency, the selection of nominees, and the operations of the Judicial Selection Commission.

CONSTITUTIONAL AMENDMENT ON MERIT PRINCIPLES

(1) Propose an amendment to the Hawaii State Constitution to require the Judicial Selection Commission to be guided by principles of merit in the selection of judicial nominations and the retention of judges and justice.

Article VI of the Hawaii State Constitution should be amended to add a new section to read as follows:

"MERIT PRINCIPLES

<u>Section 1.5.</u> The judicial selection commission shall be guided by principles of merit in the selection of judicial nominations and the retention of judges and justices."

CONCURRENT RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUDICIAL SELECTION

(2) Establish a Joint Committee on Judicial Selection to work with the Judicial Selection Commission and Judiciary.

A Joint Committee on Judicial Selection consisting of members appointed by all three branches of government and the private sector should be legislatively established to work with the Judicial Selection Commission and Judiciary to:

RECOMMENDATIONS

- (A) Develop clear, written standards for evaluating applicants and petitioners for judicial office;
- (B) Develop protocols for training new and existing members of the Judicial Selection Commission;
- (C) Streamline the Judicial Selection Commission's voting rules;
- (D) Define the term "deliberations" under article VI, section 4, of the Hawaii State Constitution; and
- (E) Create greater transparency as to the rules and procedures applicable to the Judicial Selection Commission.

The Legislative Reference Bureau should be requested to assist the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection, including with the submission of a report to the Legislature on its findings and recommendations, including any proposed legislation.

STEERING COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Steering Committee Members

The ad hoc Judicial Selection Commission Steering Committee was formed by a group of interested individuals with varying perspectives on and experiences with the judicial selection process. Membership includes government officials and private attorneys with a broad spectrum of knowledge and experience. The members of the Steering Committee are:

David Louie, Chair

Daniel Foley, Vice Chair

Margery Bronster

Doug Chin

Clare Connors

Susan Ichinose

John Komeiji

Scott Saiki

APPENDICES

Appendices

- Appendix A Article VI of the Hawaii State Constitution
- Appendix B Rules of the Judicial Selection Commission
- Appendix C Proposed Constitutional Amendment on Merit Principles
- Appendix D Proposed Concurrent Resolution Establishing the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection

THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF HAWAII

ARTICLE VI

THE JUDICIARY

JUDICIAL POWER

Section 1. The judicial power of the State shall be vested in one supreme court, one intermediate appellate court, circuit courts, district courts and in such other courts as the legislature may from time to time establish. The several courts shall have original and appellate jurisdiction as provided by law and shall establish time limits for disposition of cases in accordance with their rules. [Ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978]

SUPREME COURT; INTERMEDIATE APPELLATE COURT; CIRCUIT COURTS

Section 2. The supreme court shall consist of a chief justice and four associate justices. The chief justice may assign a judge or judges of the intermediate appellate court or a circuit court to serve temporarily on the supreme court, a judge of the circuit court to serve temporarily on the intermediate appellate court and a judge of the district court to serve temporarily on the circuit court. As provided by law, at the request of the chief justice, retired justices of the

supreme court also may serve temporarily on the supreme court, and retired judges of the intermediate appellate court, the circuit courts, the district courts and the district family courts may serve temporarily on the intermediate appellate court, on any circuit court, on any district court and on any district family court, respectively. In case of a vacancy in the office of chief justice, or if the chief justice is ill, absent or otherwise unable to serve, an associate justice designated in accordance with the rules of the supreme court shall serve temporarily in place of the chief justice. [Am Const Con 1968 and election Nov 5, 1968; ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am HB 355 (1985) and election Nov 4, 1986]

APPOINTMENT OF JUSTICES AND JUDGES

Section 3. The governor, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the office of the chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts, by appointing a person from a list of not less than four, and not more than six, nominees for the vacancy, presented to the governor by the judicial selection commission.

If the governor fails to make any appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the

consent of the senate. If the senate fails to reject any appointment within thirty days thereof, it shall be deemed to have given its consent to such appointment. If the senate shall reject any appointment, the governor shall make another appointment from the list within ten days thereof. The same appointment and consent procedure shall be followed until a valid appointment has been made, or failing this, the commission shall make the appointment from the list, without senate consent.

The chief justice, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the district courts by appointing a person from a list of not less than six nominees for the vacancy presented by the judicial selection commission. If the chief justice fails to make the appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. The senate shall hold a public hearing and vote on each appointment within thirty days of any appointment. If the senate fails to do so, the nomination shall be returned to the commission and the commission shall make the appointment from the list without senate consent. The chief justice shall appoint per diem district court judges as provided by law.

The judicial selection commission shall disclose to the public the list of nominees for each vacancy concurrently with the presentation of each list to the governor or the chief justice, as applicable.

QUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT

Justices and judges shall be residents and citizens of the State and of the United States, and licensed to practice law by the supreme court. A justice of the supreme court, a judge of the intermediate appellate court and a judge of the circuit court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than ten years preceding nomination. A judge of the district court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than five years preceding nomination.

No justice or judge shall, during the term of office, engage in the practice of law, or run for or hold any other office or position of profit under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions.

TENURE; RETIREMENT

The term of office of justices and judges of the supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts shall be ten years. Judges of district courts shall hold office for the periods as provided by law. At least six months prior to the

expiration of a justice's or judge's term of office, every justice and judge shall petition the judicial selection commission to be retained in office or shall inform the commission of an intention to retire. If the judicial selection commission determines that the justice or judge should be retained in office, the commission shall renew the term of office of the justice or judge for the period provided by this section or by law.

Justices and judges shall be retired upon attaining the age of seventy years. They shall be included in any retirement law of the State. [Am Const Con 1968 and election Nov 5, 1968; ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am SB 2182 (1994) and SB 2294 (1994) and election Nov 8, 1994; am HB 1917 (2006) and election Nov 7, 2006; am HB 420 (2014) and election Nov 4, 2014]

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION

Section 4. There shall be a judicial selection commission that shall consist of nine members. The governor shall appoint two members to the commission. No more than one of the two members shall be a licensed attorney. The president of the senate and the speaker of the house of representatives shall each respectively appoint two members to the commission. The chief justice of the supreme court shall appoint one member to

the commission. Members in good standing of the bar of the State shall elect two of their number to the commission in an election conducted by the supreme court or its delegate. No more than four members of the commission shall be licensed attorneys. At all times, at least one member of the commission shall be a resident of a county other than the City and County of Honolulu.

The commission shall be selected and shall operate in a wholly nonpartisan manner. After the initial formation of the commission, elections and appointments to the commission shall be for staggered terms of six years each. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no member of the commission shall serve for more than six years on the commission.

Each member of the judicial selection commission shall be a resident of the State and a citizen of the United States. No member shall run for or hold any other elected office under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions. No member shall take an active part in political management or in political campaigns. No member shall be eligible for appointment to the judicial office of the State so long as the person is a member of the judicial commission and for a period of three years thereafter.

No act of the judicial selection commission shall be valid except by concurrence of the majority of its voting members.

The judicial selection commission shall select one of its members to serve as chairperson. The commission shall adopt rules which shall have the force and effect of law. The deliberations of the commission shall be confidential.

The legislature shall provide for the staff and operating expenses of the judicial selection commission in a separate budget. No member of the judicial selection commission shall receive any compensation for commission services, but shall be allowed necessary expenses for travel, board and lodging incurred in the performance of commission duties.

The judicial selection commission shall be attached to the judiciary branch of the state government for purposes of administration. [Add Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am SB 2513 (1994) and SB 2515 (1994) and election Nov 8, 1994]

RETIREMENT; REMOVAL; DISCIPLINE

Section 5. The supreme court shall have the power to reprimand, discipline, suspend with or without salary, retire or remove from office any justice or judge for misconduct or disability, as provided by rules adopted by the supreme court.

The supreme court shall create a commission on judicial discipline which shall have authority to investigate and conduct hearings concerning allegations of misconduct or disability and to make recommendations to the supreme court concerning

reprimand, discipline, suspension, retirement or removal of any justice or judge. [Am Const Con 1968 and election Nov 5, 1968; ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978]

ADMINISTRATION

Section 6. The chief justice of the supreme court shall be the administrative head of the courts. The chief justice may assign judges from one circuit court to another for temporary service. With the approval of the supreme court, the chief justice shall appoint an administrative director to serve at the chief justice's pleasure. [Ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978]

RULES

Section 7. The supreme court shall have power to promulgate rules and regulations in all civil and criminal cases for all courts relating to process, practice, procedure and appeals, which shall have the force and effect of law. [Ren Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978]

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

Published by the Supreme Court of the State of Hawai'i for the Judicial Selection Commission

Adopted by the Commission April 23, 1979
With Amendments as Noted
pursuant to Article VI, Section 4 of the
Hawaii State Constitution

The Judiciary State of Hawai'i

APPENDIX B

APPENDIX B

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE

Rule 1.	COMMISSION CHAIRPERSON
Rule 2.	COMMISSION VICE-CHAIRPERSON
Rule 3.	COMMISSION SECRETARY
Rule 4.	TERMS OF OFFICE
Rule 5.	CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COMMISSION MEMBERS
	SECTION ONE: ABUSE OF POSITION
	SECTION TWO: CONFIDENTIALITY
	SECTION THREE: CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Rule 6.	COMMISSION MEETINGS
Rule 7.	RECRUITMENT OF APPLICANTS, NOTICE
Rule 8.	APPLICATIONS AND PRELIMINARY SCREENING OF APPLICANTS.
Rule 9.	INTERVIEWS AND INVESTIGATIONS
Rule 10.	EVALUATION OF APPLICANTS AND PETITIONERS
Rule 11.	SELECTION OF NOMINEES
Rule 12.	RETENTION OF PETITIONERS
Rule 13.	TRANSMITTAL TO THE APPOINTING AUTHORITY
APPENDIX	

APPENDIX B

(This page intentionally left blank.)

APPENDIX BJUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

PREAMBLE

Judicial selection commissioners hold positions of public trust and shall conduct themselves in a manner which reflects credit upon the judicial selection process.

Rule 1. COMMISSION CHAIRPERSON

The chairperson of the commission shall adhere to the Rules for the Judicial Selection Commission and shall preside at any meeting of the commission and shall perform such additional acts and functions as authorized by the commission.

(Amended and effective 2/13/13)

Rule 2. COMMISSION VICE-CHAIRPERSON

In the event that the chairperson is an attorney, the vice-chairperson shall be a lay member of the commission. If the chairperson is not an attorney, the vice-chairperson shall be an attorney. The vice-chairperson shall serve in the absence of the chairperson.

Rule 3. COMMISSION SECRETARY

The commission shall choose one of its members as secretary. It shall be the duty of the secretary to prepare and keep the minutes of all meetings. In the secretary's absence, the commission shall choose a member to be acting secretary. The duties may be delegated to a staff member.

Rule 4. TERMS OF OFFICE

The terms of office of the chairperson, vicechairperson and secretary shall be for two years. Any officer may be removed prior to the expiration of his or her term of office upon a majority vote of the commission.

(Amended and effective 2/13/13)

Rule 5. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COMMISSION MEMBERS

SECTION ONE: ABUSE OF POSITION

- A. No commissioner shall use or attempt to use his or her official position to secure privileges or exemptions for the commissioner or others.
- **B.** No commissioner shall attempt, solicit, or agree to accept any gift, favor or anything of value

based upon any understanding, either explicit or implicit, that the official actions, decisions or judgment of any commissioner would be influenced thereby. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a commissioner from accepting a public award presented in recognition of public service.

- **C.** No commissioner shall request or accept any fee or compensation, on commission related matters.
- **D.** Each commissioner shall use the resources, property and funds under the commissioner's official control judiciously and solely in accordance with prescribed statutory and regulatory procedures.
- **E.** Each commissioner shall immediately report to the Judicial Selection Commission any attempt to induce him or her to violate any of the standards set out above.

SECTION TWO: CONFIDENTIALITY

A. Under the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i, the commission's deliberations must be confidential. To keep deliberations confidential, information that shall be kept confidential and shall not be disclosed outside of any commission meeting shall include, but not be limited to: information relating to the identity of any applicant; information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners; the identity of informational sources; and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject.

(Amended and effective 11/15/11; further amended and effective 2/13/13; further amended and effective 1/24/14)

B. This mandate of confidentiality survives commissioners' terms of office and must be observed in perpetuity.

(Amended and effective 11/15/11)

C. The commission shall release lists of its nominees for judicial office concurrent with its submission of each list to the appointing authority.

(Amended and effective 11/15/11)

(Release: 06/14) **JSCR--1**

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

SECTION THREE: CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A. Every commissioner shall avoid conflicts of interest in the performance of commission duties. Every commissioner is required to exercise diligence in becoming aware of conflicts of interest, and in disclosing any conflicts to the commission. If a commissioner knows of any personal, business, or legal relationship that a commissioner may have with an applicant or petitioner, including any legal proceeding in which a commissioner is appearing as a party or counsel before an applicant or petitioner, the commissioner must report this fact to the commission. The commission shall then decide the extent to which the involved commissioner shall participate in the proceedings concerning said applicant or petitioner. In the event that a commissioner does not vote, the fact that a commissioner did not vote may be announced publicly. The commission may disclose its decision on this issue.

(Amended and effective 2/13/13)

- **B.** No commissioner shall participate in any retention proceeding regarding a judge or justice who has a petition for retention pending before the commission pursuant to Rule 12 if that commissioner has a substantive matter pending before that judge or justice.
- **C.** No commissioner shall take an active part in political management or in political campaigns.
- **D.** A commissioner shall consider each applicant and petitioner for a judicial office in an impartial, objective manner. No commissioner shall discriminate on the basis of nor manifest, by words or conduct, bias or prejudice based on race, religion, sex, national origin, gender, marital status, sexual orientation or political affiliation in the conduct of the business of the commission.

Rule 6. COMMISSION MEETINGS

A. Meetings of the commission may be called by the chairperson or a majority of the members by written notice to the other members specifying the time and place of meeting. Such notice shall be transmitted in writing at least seven days before the time specified, except that a meeting may be held on shorter notice if the notice specifies that the meeting will be an emergency meeting. Notice of meeting may be waived by any commissioner either before or after the meeting takes place; and attendance at a meeting by any member shall constitute a waiver of notice by such member unless he or she shall, at or promptly after the beginning of such meeting, object to the holding of the meeting on the ground of lack of, or insufficiency of, notice.

(Amended and effective 2/13/13)

- **B.** Meetings of the commission may be held without notice at any time or place whenever the meeting is one as to which notice is waived by all members or whenever the commission at a previous meeting shall have designated the time and place for such a meeting.
- C. The chairperson shall call at least one meeting each year for the principal purpose of reviewing and/or amending commission rules and operating procedures and briefing new commissioners of the rules and operating procedures.
- **D.** A quorum for the commission shall be five commissioners. The commission shall act by majority vote of all commissioners in all actions.

Rule 7. RECRUITMENT OF APPLICANTS, NOTICE

- **A.** Commissioners may actively seek out and encourage qualified individuals to apply for judicial office. Commissioners should always keep in mind that often persons with the highest qualifications will not actively seek judicial appointment.
- **B.** Upon notification or knowledge that a vacancy has occurred or will occur, the chairperson shall inform the other members of the commission of the vacancy. The commission may publicize a vacancy.

Rule 8. APPLICATIONS AND PRELIMINARY SCREENING OF APPLICANTS

- **A.** Applicants who meet the constitutional qualifications for appointment shall receive and respond to forms of applications as prescribed by the commission.
- **B.** After it receives the applications, the commission may by a majority vote eliminate from further consideration those applicants whom it evaluates to be unqualified for judicial office. A list of the remaining applicants may be prepared and the commission may gather additional information on each applicant as it deems appropriate.

(Amended and effective 2/13/13)

C. The chairperson may designate one or more commissioners to review the qualifications of the applicants whose names appear on the list of remaining applicants prepared pursuant to Rule 8B. The designated commissioner or commissioners shall prepare a list recommending the names of applicants whom the commission should interview, the names of applicants who should not be further considered by the commission, and the names of applicants the commission should further consider for judicial office. In the event of such designations, the commission shall determine by a majority vote whether or not to accept or reject the recommendations.

(Amended and effective 2/13/13)

Rule 9. INTERVIEWS AND INVESTIGATIONS

The commission may interview applicants and petitioners and conduct investigations into their backgrounds and qualifications. The chairperson may designate one or more commissioners to interview and investigate applicants and petitioners. Using the commission's form of application or petition or as the case may be, as a starting point, the designees may obtain as much information on the applicant or petitioner as possible from available sources. The commission may retain such services as it deems necessary and appropriate to conduct investigations.

Rule 10. EVALUATION OF APPLICANTS AND PETITIONERS

- A. The commission shall consider each applicants and petitioners background, professional skills and character, and may give consideration to the following qualities.
 - (1) integrity and moral courage
 - (2) legal ability and experience
 - (3) intelligence and wisdom
 - (4) compassion and fairness
 - (5) diligence and decisiveness
 - (6) judicial temperament
- (7) such other qualities that the commission deems appropriate

Rule 11. SELECTION OF NOMINEES

A. Oral or written reports on the investigations and interviews conducted pursuant to Rule 9 shall be made to the commission. Thereafter, the chairperson

shall open the meeting to a discussion of each applicant's qualifications for judicial office.

B. When the commission has completed its evaluation of applications for judicial office, it shall meet for the purpose of selecting not less than four and not more than six nominees for a vacancy in the office of chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts. The commission shall select not less than six nominees for a vacancy in the district courts.

(Amended and effective 6/25/09)

C. The commission members shall vote by secret ballot. Each member shall vote to select the number of qualified nominees for any given judicial office vacancy required under Rule 11B. In the event that the initial ballot produces less than the stipulated number of nominees, voting shall continue for the remaining nominee positions; provided, however, that each nominee must have been selected by a majority vote of nine commissioners. An applicant's name may be included on more than one list of nominees for different judicial office vacancies. The names of the nominees selected by the commission shall be transmitted pursuant to Rule 13.

(Amended and effective 6/25/09)

Rule 12. RETENTION OF PETITIONERS

- A. When a judge or justice petitions the commission pursuant to Section 3 of Article VI of the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i to be retained in office, the commission shall promptly upon receipt of such petition commence an investigation into qualifications of the petitioner for continued judicial office. Every petitioner shall complete forms prescribed by the commission. The petitioner, by giving notice to the commission, may withdraw the petition for retention before the issuance of an order by the commission under Rule 12F.
- **B.** The commission shall publicize the fact that the judge or justice has petitioned for retention in such a manner as it deems appropriate to the need that all persons who might have an interest in the subject matter be given an opportunity to submit their views.
- C. At any meeting of the commission held for the purpose of considering a petition filed pursuant to this rule, the chairperson or acting chairperson may administer oaths and affirmations to any person testifying at such meetings.

- D. The commission may compel by subpoena the attendance of witnesses by hearings under this rule and the production of pertinent books, papers and documents. Writs of subpoena shall be signed by the chair or acting chair and attested to by the secretary or acting secretary. The circuit court of any circuit in which a subpoena is served or in which the attendance is required may, upon proper application, enforce the attendance and testimony of any witness and the production of any documents so subpoenaed. Subpoena and witness fees and mileage shall be the same as in civil cases in the circuit courts.
- E. The commission shall interview the petitioner and may hold hearings which, at the discretion of the commission, may be either opened or closed to the public and which interested parties may testify before the commission.

The commission shall make a determination that the petitioner should or should not be retained in office, and the commission shall attempt to make its decision within thirty days prior to the expiration of the petitioner's then current term of office. Voting by the commissioners on the question of the granting or denial of the petition shall be by secret ballot. The term of a petitioner may not be extended except by a majority vote of the commissioners as provided by Rule 6D.

F. The commission shall issue an order upon making a determination that the petitioner should or should not be retained in office. The order shall renew the term of office of the petitioner for the period provided by law if the determination is that the petitioner should be retained in office. The order shall state that the petition has been denied if the determination is that the petitioner should not be retained in office.

Rule 13. TRANSMITTAL TO THE APPOINTING AUTHORITY

- **A.** The names of the nominees, listed in alphabetical order, shall be hand-delivered to the appointing authority.
- **B.** No other information shall be forwarded to the appointing authority, except that the commission may submit to the appointing authority a factual summary of the nominee's background based on material provided by the nominees, and the commission may consult with the appointing authority on request.

APPENDIX
THE CONSTITUTION OF THE
STATE OF HAWAI'I
as amended and in force July 1, 2004

[ARTICLE VI]

APPOINTMENT OF JUSTICES AND JUDGES

SECTION 3. The governor, with the consent of the senate shall fill a vacancy in the office of the chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts, by appointing a person from a list of not less than four, and not more than six, nominees for the vacancy, presented to the governor by the judicial selection commission. If the governor fails to make any appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. If the senate fails to reject any appointment within thirty days thereof, it shall be deemed to have given its consent to such appointment. If the senate shall reject any appointment, the governor shall make another appointment from the list within ten days The same appointment and consent thereof. procedure shall be followed until a valid appointment has been made, or failing this, the commission shall make the appointment from the list, without senate consent. The chief justice, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the district courts by appointing a person from a list of not less than six nominees for the vacancy presented by the judicial commission. If the chief justice fails to make the appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. The senate must hold a public hearing and vote on each appointment within thirty days of any appointment. If the senate fails to do so, the nomination shall be returned to the commission and the commission shall make the appointment from the list without senate consent. The chief justice shall appoint per diem district court judges as provided by law.

QUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT

Justices and judges shall be residents and citizens of the State and of the United States, and licensed to practice law by the supreme court. A justice of the supreme court, a judge of the intermediate appellate court and a judge of the circuit court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than ten years preceding nomination. A judge of the district court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than five years preceding nomination. No justice or judge shall, during the term of office, engage in the practice of law, or run for or hold any other office or position of profit under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions.

TENURE; COMPENSATION; RETIREMENT

The term of office of justices and judges of the supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts shall be ten years. Judges of district courts shall hold office for the periods as provided by law. At least six months prior to the expiration of a justice's or judge's term of office, every justice and judge shall petition the judicial selection commission to be retained in office or shall inform the commission of an intention to retire. If the judicial selection commission determines that the justice of judge should be retained in office, the commission shall renew the term of office of such justice or judge for the period provided by this section or by law. There shall be a salary commission to review and recommend salaries for justices and judges of all state courts. Justices and judges shall have salaries as provided by law. Their compensation shall not be decreased during their respective terms of office, unless by general law applying to all salaried officers of the State. They shall be retired upon attaining the age of seventy years. They shall be included in any retirement law of the State.

(Am Const Con 1968 and election Nov 5, 1968; ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am SB 2182 (1994) and SB 2294 (1994) and election Nov 8, 1994.)

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION

SECTION 4. There shall be a judicial selection commission that shall consist of nine members. The governor shall appoint two members to the commission. No more than one of the two members shall be a licensed attorney. The president of the senate and the speaker of the house of representatives shall each respectively appoint two members to the commission. The chief justice of the supreme court shall appoint one member to the commission. Members in good standing of the bar of the State shall elect two of their number to the commission in an election conducted by the supreme court or its delegate. No more than four members of the commission shall be licensed attorneys. At all times, at least one member of the commission shall be a resident of a county other than the City and County of Honolulu. The commission shall be selected and shall operate in a wholly nonpartisan manner. After the initial formation of the commission, elections and appointments to the commission shall be for staggered terms of six years each. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no member of the commission shall serve for more than six years on the commission. Each member of the judicial selection commission shall be a resident of the State and a citizen of the United States. No member shall run for or hold any other elected office under the United States, the State its political subdivisions. No member shall take an active part in political management or in political No member shall be eligible for campaigns. appointment to judicial office of the State so long as the person is a member of the judicial commission and for a period of three years thereafter. No act of the judicial selection commission shall be valid except by concurrence of the majority of its voting members. The judicial selection commission shall select one of its members to serve as chairperson. The commission shall adopt rules which shall have the force and effect of law. The deliberations of the commission shall be confidential. The legislature shall provide for the staff and operating expenses of the judicial selection commission in a separate No member of the judicial selection budget. commission shall receive any compensation for commission services, but shall be allowed necessary expenses for travel, board and lodging incurred in the performance of commission duties.

APPENDIX B Appendix JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

The judicial selection commission shall be attached to the judiciary branch of the state government for purposes of administration.

(Add Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am SB 2513 (1994) and SB 2515 (1994) and election Nov 8, 1994.)

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES THIRTY-FIRST LEGISLATURE, 2021 STATE OF HAWAII

H.B. NO.

A BILL FOR AN ACT

PROPOSING AN AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF HAWAII TO REQUIRE THE JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION TO BE GUIDED BY PRINCIPLES OF MERIT IN THE SELECTION OF JUDICIAL NOMINATIONS AND THE RETENTION OF JUDGES AND JUSTICES.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATURE OF THE STATE OF HAWAII:

1 SECTION 1. Article VI of the Constitution of the State of 2 Hawaii is amended by adding a new section to read as follows: 3 "MERIT PRINCIPLES 4 Section 1.5. The judicial selection commission shall be 5 guided by principles of merit in the selection of judicial 6 nominations and the retention of judges and justices." 7 SECTION 2. The question to be printed on the ballot shall 8 be as follows: 9 "Shall the Constitution of the State of Hawaii be amended 10 to require the judicial selection commission to be guided by 11 principles of merit in the selection of judicial nominations and 12 the retention of judges and justices?" 13 SECTION 3. New constitutional material is underscored. 14 SECTION 4. This amendment shall take effect upon

APPENDIX C

1	compliance with article XVII, section 3, of the Constitution of
2	the State of Hawaii.
3	
	INTRODUCED BY:

APPENDIX C

Report Title:

Constitutional Amendment; Judicial Selection Commission; Merit Principles

Description:

Proposes an amendment to the Constitution of the State of Hawaii to require the judicial selection commission to be guided by principles of merit in the selection of judicial nominations and the retention of judges and justices.

The summary description of legislation appearing on this page is for informational purposes only and is not legislation or evidence of legislative intent.

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES THIRTY-FIRST LEGISLATURE, 2021 STATE OF HAWAII

1 2

3

4

7

8 9 10

11

12

13 14 15

16

17 18 19

20

21 22 23

24

25

26 27

28

29 **30** 31

32

H.C.R. NO.

HOUSE CONCURRENT RESOLUTION

ESTABLISHING A JOINT COMMITTEE ON JUDICIAL SELECTION.

WHEREAS, Hawaii's Judicial Selection Commission was proposed by the 1978 Constitutional Convention as a method of selecting judges based solely on their qualifications and not on political patronage; and

WHEREAS, this merit-based selection process was intended to assure the public that only the candidates best qualified for a vacancy would be considered for judicial appointment; and

WHEREAS, however, doubts have been raised over the years regarding the selection and retention of judges and justices and the closed and confidential operations of the Judicial Selection Commission; and

WHEREAS, Hawaii's judicial selection process is shrouded in unlimited secrecy due to strict laws and rules regulating disclosure; and

WHEREAS, deliberations of the Judicial Selection Commission are further determined to be confidential pursuant to the Constitution of the State of Hawaii; and

WHEREAS, to keep deliberations confidential, the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission provide, in perpetuity, blanket confidentiality for information relating to the identity of any applicant, information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners, and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject; and

WHEREAS, the only time an applicant's name is publicly released is upon nomination by the Judicial Selection Commission

H.C.R. NO.

for a vacant judicial position as provided by the Constitution of the State of Hawaii; and

WHEREAS, the continued opacity of Hawaii's judicial selection process may further erode public confidence in the judicial selection process and, by extension, the Judiciary; and

WHEREAS, Hawaii's merit-based judicial selection process can only be preserved through public confidence and public confidence requires full disclosure of the process and the need for confidentiality as an inherent part of merit-based judicial selection; and

 WHEREAS, to preserve Hawaii's merit-based selection process, it is critical that the public has a clear understanding of the thorough process utilized by the Judicial Selection Commission in selecting and retaining judges and justices; and

WHEREAS, the rules of the Judicial Selection Commission do not identify any clear or measurable evaluation standards for applicants or petitioners for judicial office, including standards that address the specific skills that are required for trial or appellate courts and the knowledge required for courts with specialized jurisdiction; and

WHEREAS, establishing clear, defined standards for evaluating applicants and petitioners for judicial office will promote public confidence that the best qualified applicants are being selected and quality petitioners are retained in a consistent manner and assure applicants and petitioners that they will be held to predictable and transparent standards; and

 WHEREAS, the efficiency and operations of the Judicial Selection Commission could also be improved with an orientation program for new members of the Commission and annual training for all members of the Commission; and

WHEREAS, the Judicial Selection Commission's voting process can be streamlined by amending the voting system, voting for multiple lists at the same time, or authorizing remote participation; now, therefore,

2021-0708 HCR HMSO-1

H.C.R. NO.

_						
1 2	יד שם	T DESCRIVED by the House of Penrosentatives of the				
3	BE IT RESOLVED by the House of Representatives of the Thirty-first Legislature of the State of Hawaii, Regular Session					
4	_	the Senate concurring, that the Joint Committee on				
5		Selection shall be established to work with the				
6		Selection Commission and Judiciary to:				
7						
8	(1)	Develop clear, written standards for evaluating				
9	, ,	applicants and petitioners for judicial office;				
10						
11	(2)	Develop protocols for training new and existing				
12		members of the Judicial Selection Commission;				
13						
14	(3)	Streamline the Judicial Selection Commission's voting				
15		rules;				
16						
17	(4)	Define the term "deliberations" under article VI,				
18		section 4, of the Hawaii State Constitution; and				
19	/ - \					
20	(5)	Create greater transparency as to the rules and				
21 22		procedures applicable to the Judicial Selection Commission; and				
23		Commission, and				
24	BF. T'	I FURTHER RESOLVED that the Joint Committee on Judicial				
25		shall consist of the following members:				
26						
27	(1)	Two members appointed by the Speaker of the House of				
28		Representatives;				
29						
30	(2)	Two members appointed by the Senate President;				
31						
32	(3)	One member appointed by the Governor;				
33	(1)					
34	(4)	One member appointed by the Chief Justice of the				
35 36		Hawaii Supreme Court; and				
37	(5)	One member appointed by the Hawaii State Bar				
38	(5)	Association; and				
39		1.0001011, 4114				
40	BE I	I FURTHER RESOLVED that the Legislative Reference				
41		requested to assist the Joint Committee on Judicial				

2021-0708 HCR HMSO-1

Selection; and

42

H.C.R. NO.

1 2 3

4

6

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Joint Committee on Judicial Selection, with the assistance of the Legislative Reference Bureau, is requested to submit a report of its findings and recommendations, including any proposed legislation, to the Legislature no later than twenty days prior to the convening of the Regular Session of 2022; and

7 8 9

10

11

12

13

14

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that a certified copy of this Concurrent Resolution be transmitted to the Governor, Speaker of the House of Representatives, President of the Senate, Chief Justice of the Hawaii Supreme Court, Chairperson of the Judicial Selection Commission, Executive Director of the Hawaii State Bar Association, and Director of the Legislative Reference Bureau.

15 16 17

OFFERED BY:		
JEFEKED BI:		

APPENDIX C: Judicial Selection Commission Rules

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

Published by the Supreme Court of the State of Hawai'i for the Judicial Selection Commission

Adopted by the Commission April 23, 1979 With Amendments as Noted pursuant to Article VI, Section 4 of the Hawai'i State Constitution

> The Judiciary State of Hawai'i

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

Table of Contents

PREAMBLE

Rule 1.	COMMISSION CHAIRPERSON		
Rule 2.	COMMISSION VICE-CHAIRPERSON		
Rule 3.	COMMISSION SECRETARY		
Rule 4.	TERMS OF OFFICE		
Rule 5.	CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COMMISSION MEMBERS		
	SECTION ONE: ABUSE OF POSITION		
	SECTION TWO: CONFIDENTIALITY		
	SECTION THREE: CONFLICT OF INTEREST		
Rule 6.	COMMISSION MEETINGS		
Rule 7.	RECRUITMENT OF APPLICANTS, NOTICE		
Rule 8.	APPLICATIONS AND PRELIMINARY SCREENING OF APPLICANTS		
Rule 9.	INTERVIEWS AND INVESTIGATIONS		
Rule 10.	EVALUATION OF APPLICANTS AND PETITIONERS		
Rule 11.	SELECTION OF NOMINEES		
Rule 12.	RETENTION OF PETITIONERS		
Rule 13.	TRANSMITTAL TO THE APPOINTING AUTHORITY		

APPENDIX

i

PREAMBLE

Judicial selection commissioners hold positions of public trust and shall conduct themselves in a manner which reflects credit upon the judicial selection process.

Rule 1. COMMISSION CHAIRPERSON

The chairperson of the commission shall adhere to the Rules for the Judicial Selection Commission and shall preside at any meeting of the commission and shall perform such additional acts and functions as authorized by the commission.

(Amended and effective 2/13/2013)

Rule 2. COMMISSION VICE-CHAIRPERSON

In the event that the chairperson is an attorney, the vice-chairperson shall be a lay member of the commission. If the chairperson is not an attorney, the vice-chairperson shall be an attorney. The vice-chairperson shall serve in the absence of the chairperson.

Rule 3. COMMISSION SECRETARY

The commission shall choose one of its members as secretary. It shall be the duty of the secretary to prepare and keep the minutes of all meetings. In the secretary's absence, the commission shall choose a member to be acting secretary. The duties may be delegated to a staff member.

Rule 4. TERMS OF OFFICE

The terms of office of the chairperson, vicechairperson and secretary shall be for two years. Any officer may be removed prior to the expiration of the officer's term of office upon a majority vote of the commission.

(Amended and effective 2/13/2013; further amended 06/22/2021, effective 07/01/2021)

Rule 5. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COMMISSION MEMBERS

SECTION ONE: ABUSE OF POSITION

A. No commissioner shall use or attempt to use the commissioner's official position to secure privileges or exemptions for the commissioner or others.

(Amended 06/22/2021, effective 07/01/2021)

- **B.** No commissioner shall attempt, solicit, or agree to accept any gift, favor or anything of value based upon any understanding, either explicit or implicit, that the official actions, decisions or judgment of any commissioner would be influenced thereby. Nothing in this section shall prohibit a commissioner from accepting a public award presented in recognition of public service.
- **C.** No commissioner shall request or accept any fee or compensation, on commission related matters.
- **D.** Each commissioner shall use the resources, property and funds under the commissioner's official control judiciously and solely in accordance with prescribed statutory and regulatory procedures.
- **E.** Each commissioner shall immediately report to the Judicial Selection Commission any attempt to induce the commissioner to violate any of the standards set out above.

(Amended 06/22/2021, effective 07/01/2021)

SECTION TWO: CONFIDENTIALITY

A. Under the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i, the commission's deliberations must be confidential. To keep deliberations confidential, information that shall be kept confidential and shall not be disclosed outside of any commission meeting shall include, but not be limited to: information relating to the identity of any applicant; information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners; the identity of informational sources; and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject.

(Amended and effective 11/15/2011; further amended and effective 2/13/2013; further amended and effective 1/24/2014)

B. This mandate of confidentiality survives commissioners' terms of office and must be observed in perpetuity.

(Amended and effective 11/15/2011)

C. The commission shall release lists of its nominees for judicial office concurrent with its submission of each list to the appointing authority.

(Amended and effective 11/15/2011)

(Release: 06/21) JSCR--1

SECTION THREE: CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A. Every commissioner shall avoid conflicts of interest in the performance of commission duties. Every commissioner is required to exercise diligence in becoming aware of conflicts of interest, and in disclosing any conflicts to the commission. If a commissioner knows of any personal, business, or legal relationship that a commissioner may have with an applicant or petitioner, including any legal proceeding in which a commissioner is appearing as a party or counsel before an applicant or petitioner, the commissioner must report this fact to the commission. The commission shall then decide the extent to which the involved commissioner shall participate in the proceedings concerning said applicant or petitioner. In the event that a commissioner does not vote, the fact that a commissioner did not vote may be announced publicly. The commission may disclose its decision on this issue.

(Amended and effective 2/13/2013)

- **B.** No commissioner shall participate in any retention proceeding regarding a judge or justice who has a petition for retention pending before the commission pursuant to Rule 12 if that commissioner has a substantive matter pending before that judge or justice.
- C. No commissioner shall take an active part in political management or in political campaigns.
- **D.** A commissioner shall consider each applicant and petitioner for a judicial office in an impartial, objective manner. No commissioner shall discriminate on the basis of nor manifest, by words or conduct, bias or prejudice based on race, religion, sex, national origin, gender, marital status, sexual orientation or political affiliation in the conduct of the business of the commission.

Rule 6. COMMISSION MEETINGS

A. Meetings of the commission may be called by the chairperson or a majority of the members by written notice to the other members specifying the time and place of meeting. Such notice shall be transmitted in writing at least seven days before the time specified, except that a meeting may be held on shorter notice if the notice specifies that the meeting will be an emergency meeting. Notice of meeting may be waived by any commissioner either before or

after the meeting takes place; and attendance at a meeting by any member shall constitute a waiver of notice by such member unless the member shall, at or promptly after the beginning of such meeting, object to the holding of the meeting on the ground of lack of, or insufficiency of, notice.

(Amended and effective 2/13/2013; further amended 06/22/2021, effective 07/01/2021)

- **B.** Meetings of the commission may be held without notice at any time or place whenever the meeting is one as to which notice is waived by all members or whenever the commission at a previous meeting shall have designated the time and place for such a meeting.
- C. The chairperson shall call at least one meeting each year for the principal purpose of reviewing and/or amending commission rules and operating procedures and briefing new commissioners of the rules and operating procedures.
- **D.** A quorum for the commission shall be five commissioners. The commission shall act by majority vote of all commissioners in all actions.
- E. The chairperson or a majority of the commissioners may call for a meeting of the commission or for other business to be conducted remotely by interactive conference if the chairperson determines there are extenuating circumstances that warrant remote participation. Such circumstances include, but are not limited to, acts of God, perils of health, safety, or welfare, and other extreme emergencies. The commission may hold a meeting without notice or otherwise conduct business by interactive conference technology, provided the interactive conference technology used by the commission allows interaction among all commissioners participating in the meeting or in the conduct of business. Any commissioner participating in a meeting by interactive conference technology shall be considered present at the meeting for the purpose of determining compliance with quorum and voting requirements of the commission. In the event the chairperson is unable to perform their duties as chairperson, the vice-chairperson will serve as acting chairperson until the commission is able to meet and select by majority vote, a new chairperson. If both the chairperson and vice-chairperson are unable to perform their duties as chairperson, the secretary will serve as acting chairperson until the commission is able to meet and select by majority vote, a new chairperson. If none of the commission officers are either present or are unable to perform their duties as

JSCR--2 (Release: 06/21)

the chairperson, the commission will select by majority vote, one of the remaining commissioners to be the new chairperson.

(Added and effective 06/03/2020)

Rule 7. RECRUITMENT OF APPLICANTS, NOTICE

- **A.** Commissioners may actively seek out and encourage qualified individuals to apply for judicial office. Commissioners should always keep in mind that often persons with the highest qualifications will not actively seek judicial appointment.
- **B.** Upon notification or knowledge that a vacancy has occurred or will occur, the chairperson shall inform the other members of the commission of the vacancy. The commission may publicize a vacancy.

Rule 8. APPLICATIONS AND PRELIMINARY SCREENING OF APPLICANTS

- **A.** Applicants who meet the constitutional qualifications for appointment shall receive and respond to forms of applications as prescribed by the commission.
- **B.** After it receives the applications, the commission may by a majority vote eliminate from further consideration those applicants whom it evaluates to be unqualified for judicial office. A list of the remaining applicants may be prepared and the commission may gather additional information on each applicant as it deems appropriate.

(Amended and effective 2/13/2013)

C. The chairperson may designate one or more commissioners to review the qualifications of the applicants whose names appear on the list of remaining applicants prepared pursuant to Rule 8B. The designated commissioner or commissioners shall prepare a list recommending the names of applicants whom the commission should interview, the names of applicants who should not be further considered by the commission, and the names of applicants the commission should further consider for judicial office. In the event of such designations, the commission shall determine by a majority vote whether or not to accept or reject the recommendations.

(Amended and effective 2/13/2013)

Rule 9. INTERVIEWS AND INVESTIGATIONS

The commission may interview applicants and petitioners and conduct investigations into their backgrounds and qualifications. The chairperson may designate one or more commissioners to interview and investigate applicants and petitioners. Using the commission's form of application or petition or as the case may be, as a starting point, the designees may obtain as much information on the applicant or petitioner as possible from available sources. The commission may retain such services as it deems necessary and appropriate to conduct investigations.

Rule 10. EVALUATION OF APPLICANTS AND PETITIONERS

- **A.** The commission shall consider each applicant's and petitioner's background, professional skills and character, and may give consideration to the following qualities.
 - (1) integrity and moral courage
 - (2) legal ability and experience
 - (3) intelligence and wisdom
 - (4) compassion and fairness
 - (5) diligence and decisiveness
 - (6) judicial temperament
- (7) such other qualities that the commission deems appropriate

Rule 11. SELECTION OF NOMINEES

- **A.** Oral or written reports on the investigations and interviews conducted pursuant to Rule 9 shall be made to the commission. Thereafter, the chairperson shall open the meeting to a discussion of each applicant's qualifications for judicial office.
- **B.** When the commission has completed its evaluation of applications for judicial office, it shall meet for the purpose of selecting not less than four and not more than six nominees for a vacancy in the office of chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts. The commission shall select not less than six nominees for a vacancy in the district courts.

(Amended and effective 6/25/2009)

C. The commission members shall vote by secret ballot. Each member shall vote to select the number of qualified nominees for any given judicial office vacancy required under Rule 11B. In the event that the initial ballot produces less than the stipulated number of nominees, voting shall continue for the

(Release: 06/21) JSCR--3

remaining nominee positions; provided, however, that each nominee must have been selected by a majority vote of nine commissioners. An applicant's name may be included on more than one list of nominees for different judicial office vacancies. The names of the nominees selected by the commission shall be transmitted pursuant to Rule 13.

(Amended and effective 6/25/2009)

Rule 12. RETENTION OF PETITIONERS

- A. When a judge or justice petitions the commission pursuant to Section 3 of Article VI of the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i to be retained in office, the commission shall promptly upon receipt of such petition commence an investigation into qualifications of the petitioner for continued judicial office. Every petitioner shall complete forms prescribed by the commission. The petitioner, by giving notice to the commission, may withdraw the petition for retention before the issuance of an order by the commission under Rule 12F.
- **B.** The commission shall publicize the fact that the judge or justice has petitioned for retention in such a manner as it deems appropriate to the need that all persons who might have an interest in the subject matter be given an opportunity to submit their views.
- C. At any meeting of the commission held for the purpose of considering a petition filed pursuant to this rule, the chairperson or acting chairperson may administer oaths and affirmations to any person testifying at such meetings.
- **D.** The commission may compel by subpoena the attendance of witnesses by hearings under this rule and the production of pertinent books, papers and documents. Writs of subpoena shall be signed by the chair or acting chair and attested to by the secretary or acting secretary. The circuit court of any circuit in which a subpoena is served or in which the attendance is required may, upon proper application, enforce the attendance and testimony of any witness and the production of any documents so subpoenaed. Subpoena and witness fees and mileage shall be the same as in civil cases in the circuit courts.
- **E.** The commission shall interview the petitioner and may hold hearings which, at the discretion of the commission, may be either opened or closed to the public and which interested parties may testify before the commission.

The commission shall make a determination that the petitioner should or should not be retained in office, and the commission shall attempt to make its decision within thirty days prior to the expiration of the petitioner's then current term of office. Voting by the commissioners on the question of the granting or denial of the petition shall be by secret ballot. The term of a petitioner may not be extended except by a majority vote of the commissioners as provided by Rule 6D.

F. The commission shall issue an order upon making a determination that the petitioner should or should not be retained in office. The order shall renew the term of office of the petitioner for the period provided by law if the determination is that the petitioner should be retained in office. The order shall state that the petition has been denied if the determination is that the petitioner should not be retained in office.

Rule 13. TRANSMITTAL TO THE APPOINTING AUTHORITY

- **A.** The names of the nominees, listed in alphabetical order, shall be hand-delivered to the appointing authority.
- **B.** No other information shall be forwarded to the appointing authority, except that the commission may submit to the appointing authority a factual summary of the nominee's background based on material provided by the nominees, and the commission may consult with the appointing authority on request.

APPENDIX THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF HAWAI'I as amended and in force July 1, 2021

[ARTICLE VI]

APPOINTMENT OF JUSTICES AND JUDGES

SECTION 3. The governor, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the office of the chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts, by appointing a person from a list of not less than four, and not more than six, nominees for the vacancy, presented to the governor by the judicial selection commission. If the governor fails to make any appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's

JSCR--4 (Release: 06/21)

rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. If the senate fails to reject any appointment within thirty days thereof, it shall be deemed to have given its consent to such appointment. If the senate shall reject any appointment, the governor shall make another appointment from the list within ten days The same appointment and consent thereof. procedure shall be followed until a valid appointment has been made, or failing this, the commission shall make the appointment from the list, without senate consent. The chief justice, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the district courts by appointing a person from a list of not less than six nominees for the vacancy presented by the judicial selection commission. If the chief justice fails to make the appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. The senate must hold a public hearing and vote on each appointment within thirty days of any appointment. If the senate fails to do so, the nomination shall be returned to the commission and the commission shall make the appointment from the list without senate consent. The chief justice shall appoint per diem district court judges as provided by law. The judicial selection commission shall disclose to the public the list of nominees for each vacancy concurrently with the presentation of each list to the governor or the chief justice, as applicable.

QUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT

Justices and judges shall be residents and citizens of the State and of the United States, and licensed to practice law by the supreme court. A justice of the supreme court, a judge of the intermediate appellate court and a judge of the circuit court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than ten years preceding nomination. A judge of the district court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than five years preceding nomination. No justice or judge shall, during the term of office, engage in the practice of law, or run for or hold any other office or position of profit under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions.

TENURE; COMPENSATION; RETIREMENT

The term of office of justices and judges of the supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts shall be ten years. Judges of district courts shall hold office for the periods as provided by law. At least six months prior to the expiration of a justice's or judge's term of office, every justice and judge shall petition the judicial selection commission to be retained in office or shall inform the commission of an intention to retire. If the judicial selection commission determines that the justice or judge should be retained in office, the commission shall renew the term of office of such justice or judge for the period provided by this section or by law. Justices and judges shall be retired upon attaining the age of They shall be included in any seventy years. retirement law of the State.

(Am Const Con 1968 and election Nov 5, 1968; ren and am Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am SB 2182 (1994) and SB 2294 (1994) and election Nov 8, 1994; am HB 1917 (2006) and election Nov 7, 2006; am HB 420 (2014) and election Nov 4, 2014)

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION

SECTION 4. There shall be a judicial selection commission that shall consist of nine members. The governor shall appoint two members to the commission. No more than one of the two members shall be a licensed attorney. The president of the senate and the speaker of the house of representatives shall each respectively appoint two members to the commission. The chief justice of the supreme court shall appoint one member to the commission. Members in good standing of the bar of the State shall elect two of their number to the commission in an election conducted by the supreme court or its delegate. No more than four members of the commission shall be licensed attorneys. At all times, at least one member of the commission shall be a resident of a county other than the City and County of Honolulu. The commission shall be selected and shall operate in a wholly nonpartisan manner. After the initial formation of the commission, elections and appointments to the commission shall be for staggered terms of six years each. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no member of the commission shall serve for more than six years on the commission. Each member of the judicial selection commission

(Release: 06/21) **JSCR--5**

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

shall be a resident of the State and a citizen of the United States. No member shall run for or hold any other elected office under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions. No member shall take an active part in political management or in political No member shall be eligible for campaigns. appointment to judicial office of the State so long as the person is a member of the judicial commission and for a period of three years thereafter. No act of the judicial selection commission shall be valid except by concurrence of the majority of its voting members. The judicial selection commission shall select one of its members to serve as chairperson. The commission shall adopt rules which shall have the force and effect of law. The deliberations of the commission shall be confidential. The legislature shall provide for the staff and operating expenses of the judicial selection commission in a separate No member of the judicial selection commission shall receive any compensation for commission services, but shall be allowed necessary expenses for travel, board and lodging incurred in the performance of commission duties.

Appendix

The judicial selection commission shall be attached to the judiciary branch of the state government for purposes of administration.

(Add Const Con 1978 and election Nov 7, 1978; am SB 2513 (1994) and SB 2515 (1994) and election Nov 8, 1994.)

JSCR--6 (Release: 06/21)

APPENDIX D: Article VI of the Hawai'i Constitution

ARTICLE VI THE JUDICIARY

from the Constitution of the State of Hawaii

JUDICIAL POWER

Section 1. The judicial power of the State shall be vested in one supreme court, one intermediate appellate court, circuit courts, district courts and in such other courts as the legislature may from time to time establish. The several courts shall have original and appellate jurisdiction as provided by law and shall establish time limits for disposition of cases in accordance with their rules.

SUPREME COURT; INTERMEDIATE APPELLATE COURT; CIRCUIT COURTS

Section 2. The supreme court shall consist of a chief justice and four associate justices. The chief justice may assign a judge or judges of the intermediate appellate court or a circuit court to serve temporarily on the supreme court, a judge of the circuit court to serve temporarily on the intermediate appellate court and a judge of the district court to serve temporarily on the circuit court. As provided by law, at the request of the chief justice, retired justices of the supreme court also may serve temporarily on the supreme court, and retired judges of the intermediate appellate court, the circuit courts, the district courts and the district family courts may serve temporarily on the intermediate appellate court, on any circuit court, on any district court and on any district family court, respectively. In case of a vacancy in the office of chief justice, or if the chief justice is ill, absent or otherwise unable to serve, an associate justice designated in accordance with the rules of the supreme court shall serve temporarily in place of the chief justice.

APPOINTMENT OF JUSTICES AND JUDGES

Section 3. The governor, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the office of the chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts, by appointing a person from a list of not less than four, and not more than six, nominees for the vacancy, presented to the governor by the judicial selection commission.

If the governor fails to make any appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. If the senate fails to reject any appointment within thirty days thereof, it shall be deemed to have given its consent to such appointment. If the senate shall reject any appointment, the governor shall make another appointment from the list within ten days thereof. The same appointment and consent procedure shall be followed until a valid appointment has been made, or failing this, the commission shall make the appointment from the list, without senate consent.

The chief justice, with the consent of the senate, shall fill a vacancy in the district courts by appointing a person from a list of not less than six nominees for the vacancy presented by the judicial selection commission. If the chief justice fails to make the appointment within thirty days of presentation, or within ten days of the senate's rejection of any previous appointment, the appointment shall be made by the judicial selection commission from the list with the consent of the senate. The senate shall hold a public hearing and vote on each appointment within thirty days of any appointment. If the senate fails to do so, the nomination shall be returned to the commission and the commission shall make the appointment from the list without senate consent. The chief justice shall appoint per diem district court judges as provided by law.

The judicial selection commission shall disclose to the public the list of nominees for each vacancy concurrently with the presentation of each list to the governor or the chief justice, as applicable.

QUALIFICATIONS FOR APPOINTMENT

Justices and judges shall be residents and citizens of the State and of the United States, and licensed to practice law by the supreme court. A justice of the supreme court, a judge of the intermediate appellate court and a judge of the circuit court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than ten years preceding nomination. A judge of the district court shall have been so licensed for a period of not less than five years preceding nomination.

No justice or judge shall, during the term of office, engage in the practice of law, or run for or hold any other office or position of profit under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions.

TENURE; RETIREMENT

The term of office of justices and judges of the supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts shall be ten years. Judges of district courts shall hold office for the periods as provided by law. At least six months prior to the expiration of a justice's or judge's term of office, every justice and judge shall petition the judicial selection commission to be retained in office or shall inform the commission of an intention to retire. If the judicial selection commission determines that the justice or judge should be retained in office, the commission shall renew the term of office of the justice or judge for the period provided by this section or by law

Justices and judges shall be retired upon attaining the age of seventy years. They shall be included in any retirement law of the State.

JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION

Section 4. There shall be a judicial selection commission that shall consist of nine members. The governor shall appoint two members to the commission. No more than one of the two members shall be a licensed attorney. The president of the senate and the speaker of the

house of representatives shall each respectively appoint two members to the commission. The chief justice of the supreme court shall appoint one member to the commission. Members in good standing of the bar of the State shall elect two of their number to the commission in an election conducted by the supreme court or its delegate. No more than four members of the commission shall be licensed attorneys. At all times, at least one member of the commission shall be a resident of a county other than the City and County of Honolulu.

The commission shall be selected and shall operate in a wholly nonpartisan manner. After the initial formation of the commission, elections and appointments to the commission shall be for staggered terms of six years each. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no member of the commission shall serve for more than six years on the commission.

Each member of the judicial selection commission shall be a resident of the State and a citizen of the United States. No member shall run for or hold any other elected office under the United States, the State or its political subdivisions. No member shall take an active part in political management or in political campaigns. No member shall be eligible for appointment to the judicial office of the State so long as the person is a member of the judicial commission and for a period of three years thereafter.

No act of the judicial selection commission shall be valid except by concurrence of the majority of its voting members.

The judicial selection commission shall select one of its members to serve as chairperson. The commission shall adopt rules which shall have the force and effect of law. The deliberations of the commission shall be confidential.

The legislature shall provide for the staff and operating expenses of the judicial selection commission in a separate budget. No member of the judicial selection commission shall receive any compensation for commission services, but shall be allowed necessary expenses for travel, board and lodging incurred in the performance of commission duties.

The judicial selection commission shall be attached to the judiciary branch of the state government for purposes of administration.

RETIREMENT; REMOVAL; DISCIPLINE

Section 5. The supreme court shall have the power to reprimand, discipline, suspend with or without salary, retire or remove from office any justice or judge for misconduct or disability, as provided by rules adopted by the supreme court.

The supreme court shall create a commission on judicial discipline which shall have authority to investigate and conduct hearings concerning allegations of misconduct or disability and to make recommendations to the supreme court concerning reprimand, discipline, suspension, retirement or removal of any justice or judge.

ADMINISTRATION

Section 6. The chief justice of the supreme court shall be the administrative head of the courts. The chief justice may assign judges from one circuit court to another for temporary

service. With the approval of the supreme court, the chief justice shall appoint an administrative director to serve at the chief justice's pleasure.

RULES

Section 7. The supreme court shall have power to promulgate rules and regulations in all civil and criminal cases for all courts relating to process, practice, procedure and appeals, which shall have the force and effect of law.

APPENDIX E:

Joint Committee's Recommended Amendments to the Judicial Selection Commission Rules

JOINT COMMITTEE'S RECOMMENDED AMENDMENTS TO JUDICIAL SELECTION COMMISSION RULES

(New material is underlined and highlighted in red; deleted material is in brackets, stricken, and highlighted in blue)

Rule 5. CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COMMISSION MEMBERS

. . . .

SECTION TWO: CONFIDENTIALITY

- A. Under the Constitution of the State of Hawai'i, the commission's deliberations must be confidential. To keep deliberations confidential, information that shall be kept confidential and shall not be disclosed outside of any commission meeting shall include, but not be limited to: information relating to the identity of any applicant; information received from or about current or former applicants and petitioners; the identity of informational sources; and any communications among or votes by commissioners that have transpired in the course of their deliberations on any subject. Information on the rules, procedures, and practices used by the commission in performing its responsibilities (as distinguished from its substantive evaluations of, and deliberations on, individual applicants and petitioners) is not confidential and may be publicly disclosed by the commission.
- B. This mandate of confidentiality survives commissioners' terms of office and must be observed in perpetuity.
- C. The commission shall release lists of its nominees for judicial office concurrent with its submission of each list to the appointing authority.

. . . .

[NEW] SECTION FOUR: TRAINING PROGRAM FOR COMMISSIONERS

- A. The commission shall establish a training program that addresses commissioner responsibilities and ethical obligations, reviews the commission's rules, and reviews the structure of Hawai'i's courts and the roles of judges. Within six months after appointment, every commissioner shall complete such a training program.
- B. The commission shall prepare a written manual to guide commissioners, which shall be provided to every commissioner. The manual shall include the history and mission of the commission; the commission's practices, protocols, and procedures; pertinent provisions of the Hawai'i Constitution; the commission's rules; information on the structure of Hawai'i's courts; how judges are selected and disciplined; and case law pertinent to the commission's work. This manual shall be made available to the public.

Rule 6. COMMISSION MEETINGS

. . . .

- D. Except when voting on the selection of nominees or petitions for retention, [A]a quorum for the commission shall be five commissioners. When voting on the selection of nominees or petitions for retention, a quorum for the commission shall be seven commissioners, unless fewer than seven commissioners are available due to recusal, disqualification, and/or vacancy, in which case a quorum for the commission shall be the number of current commission members who are not recused or disqualified, as long as that number is at least five. The commission shall act by majority vote of all commissioners in all actions.
- E. The chairperson or a majority of the commissioners may call for a meeting of the commission or for other business to be conducted remotely by interactive conference, if the chairperson determines there are extenuating circumstances that warrant remote participation. Such circumstances include, but are not limited to, acts of God, perils of health, safety, or welfare, and other extreme emergencies. In-person attendance at commission meetings is preferred and encouraged. However, the chairperson or a majority of the commissioners may permit any commissioner to participate in a meeting or conduct business remotely by interactive conference. The commission may hold a meeting without notice or otherwise conduct business by interactive conference technology, provided the interactive conference technology used by the commission allows interaction among all commissioners participating in the meeting or in the conduct of business. Any commissioner participating in a meeting by interactive conference technology shall be considered present at the meeting for the purpose of determining compliance with quorum and voting requirements of the commission.

Rule 11. SELECTION OF NOMINEES

- A. Oral or written reports on the investigations and interviews conducted pursuant to Rule 9 shall be made to the commission. Thereafter, the chairperson shall open the meeting to a discussion of each applicant's qualifications for judicial office.
- B. When the commission has completed its evaluation of applications for judicial office, it shall meet for the purpose of selecting not less than four and not more than six nominees for a vacancy in the office of chief justice, supreme court, intermediate appellate court and circuit courts. The commission shall select not less than six nominees for a vacancy in the district courts.
- C. Based upon the criteria set forth in Rule 10, the commission shall select as nominees the applicants who are the most qualified to fulfill the duties and responsibilities of the particular position to be filled.
- [€]D. The commission members shall vote by secret ballot. Each member shall vote to select the number of qualified nominees for any given judicial office vacancy required under Rule 11B. In the event that the initial ballot produces less than the stipulated number of nominees, voting shall continue for the remaining nominee positions; provided, however, that each nominee must have been selected by a majority vote of nine commissioners. An applicant's name may be included on more than one list of nominees for different judicial office vacancies. The names of the nominees selected by the commission shall be transmitted pursuant to Rule 13. The secret ballot process shall not limit a commissioner's ability during commission meetings to openly discuss with other commissioners each applicant's qualifications and fitness for judicial office.

Rule 12. RETENTION OF PETITIONERS

. . . .

E. The commission shall interview the petitioner and may hold hearings which, at the discretion of the commission, may be either opened or closed to the public and which interested parties may testify before the commission.

The commission shall make a determination that the petitioner should or should not be retained in office, and the commission shall attempt to make its decision within thirty days prior to the expiration of the petitioner's then current term of office. Voting by the commissioners on the question of the granting or denial of the petition shall be by secret ballot. The term of a petitioner may not be extended except by a majority vote of the commissioners as provided by Rule 6D. The secret ballot process shall not limit a commissioner's ability during commission meetings to openly discuss with other commissioners each petitioner's qualifications and fitness to be retained for judicial office.

[NEW] Rule 14. ANNUAL REPORT

A. The commission, by January 31, shall forward an annual report of the commission's activities for the previous calendar year to the Governor, the Chief Justice, the Senate President, and the Hawai'i State Bar Association. The report shall also be published on the commission's website upon submission to the entities listed.

- B. The annual report shall consist, at a minimum, of the following information:
- (1) The name and term of each commissioner who served;
- (2) The number of nominee lists transmitted to appointing authorities and orders renewing or denying petitions for retention, referencing the court involved and the names of judges appointed and retained by court position;
- (3) The number and location of judicial vacancies as of the end of the calendar year; and
- Annual totals of demographic information relating to applicants for judicial vacancies, including number of applicants, gender, whether the applicant was a private attorney, a government attorney, a per diem judge, a judge, or otherwise employed, and age ranges, as well as a breakdown of the annual totals by court level (e.g. district, district family, circuit, intermediate appellate, and supreme courts) and by circuit.